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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions, except per-share amounts)

June 30,
2015 December 31, 2014
Assets (unaudited)
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3357 $ 344.c
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#ftdtounts of $6.4 and $5.7, respectively 1,712t 1,561.:
Merchandise inventory 436.2 337.t
Miscellaneous receivables 188.7 155.€
Prepaid expenses and other 41.2 54.7
Total current assets 2,714. 2,453.¢
Property and equipment, net 134.2 137.2
Equity investments 95.4 86.7
Goodwill 2,215.¢ 2,217.¢
Other intangible assets, net 1,089.¢ 1,168.¢
Other assets 2.2 3.2
Total assets $ 6,251.. $ 6,066.¢
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable—trade $ 853.¢ $ 704.C
Accounts payable—inventory financing 373.C 332.1
Current maturities of long-term debt 15.4 15.4
Deferred revenue 56.5 81.2
Accrued expenses:
Compensation 108.2 130.1
Interest 25.C 28.1
Sales taxes 27.C 29.1
Advertising 37.¢ 34.C
Income taxes 15.C 0.2
Other 113.2 113.7
Total current liabilities 1,625.¢ 1,468.(
Long-term liabilities:
Debt 3,154.: 3,141.¢
Deferred income taxes 428.2 475.(
Other liabilities 47 .4 45.¢
Total long-term liabilities 3,629.¢ 3,662.
Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred shares, $0.01 par value, 100.0 sharksr&éd, no shares issued or outstanding for both
periods — —
Common shares, $0.01 par value, 1,000.0 sharesrat for both periods; 170.1 and 172.2
shares issued and outstanding, respectively 1.7 1.7
Paid-in capital 2,729 2,711.¢
Accumulated deficit (1,712.9 (1,760.9
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (22.9 (16.€

Total shareholders’ equity 995.¢ 936.5




Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 6,251.: $ 6,066.¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.

3




Table of Contents

CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in millions, except per-share amounts)

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling and administrative expenses
Advertising expense

Income from operations

Interest expense, net

Net loss on extinguishments of long-term debt
Other income, net

Income before income taxes
Income tax expense

Net income

Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted

Weighted-average number of common shares outstgndin

Basic
Diluted

Cash dividends declared per common share

(unaudited)
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
$ 3,314.( % 3,106.( $ 6,069.. $ 5,758.:
2,779 2,609.: 5,078.: 4,836.:
534.t 496.¢ 991.( 922.1
290.¢ 273.¢ 566.1 534.¢
38.C 34.t 67.2 63.5
205.¢ 188.2 357.t 324.(
(37.9) (48.5) (82.6) (98.6)
— (2.6) (24.%) (8.0)
4.C 0.1 8.t 0.€
172.1 137.2 259.] 218.(
(63.9) (50.6) (96.2) (80.5)
$ 1082 $ 86.6 $ 162.¢ $ 137.5
$ 0.6 $ 051 % 09t $ 0.81
$ 0.6 $ 05C % 09 $ 0.8C
171.( 170.2 171.¢ 169.¢
172.t 172.5 173.( 172.t
$ 0.067¢ $ 0.042t $ 0.135( $ 0.085(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in millions)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended June 30 Six Months Ended June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014

Net income $ 108.2 $ 86.6 $ 162.¢ $ 137.t
Foreign currency translation adjustment (net ofiterefit of $1.7
million and $0.0 million, and of $0.3 million an®$ million,
respectively) 4.7 3.7 (6.3 (0.2
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 4.7 3.7 (6.9 (0.2
Comprehensive income $ 112¢ % 90.2 § 156.¢ $ 137.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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Balance at December 31, 2014

CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in millions)
(unaudited)

Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Accumulated

Equity-based compensation expense _

Stock option exercises

Common shares issued for equity-based compensation __

Excess tax benefits from equity-based compensat _

Coworker stock purchase plan
Dividends declared
Net income

Share repurchases

Foreign currency translation adjustment —

Balance at June 30, 2015

Other Total
Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholders’

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity
— $ — 172z ¢ 17 $ 2,711¢ $ (1,760 $ (16.6) $ 936.£
— — — 12.2 — — 12.2
— — — — 1.C — — 1.C
— 0.2 — — — — —
— — — .2 — — 0.2
— 0.2 — 4.2 — — 4.2
— — — — — (23.2) — (23.2)
— — — — — 162.¢ — 162.¢
— (2.5 — — (91.79) — (91.9)
— — — — — (6.9 6.3
— $ — 1701 ¢ 17 $ 2,729f $ (1,7129) $ 229 $ 995.¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)

(unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigenl by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Equity-based compensation expense
Deferred income taxes
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Amortization of deferred financing costs, debt pim, and debt discount, net
Net loss on extinguishments of long-term debt
Income from equity method investment
Mark-to-market loss on interest rate cap agreements
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Merchandise inventory
Other assets
Accounts payable-trade
Other current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Payment of accrued charitable contribution relatethe MPK Coworker Incentive Plan I
Premium payments on interest rate cap agreements
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments of long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Payments to extinguish long-term debt
Payments of debt financing costs
Net change in accounts payable-inventory financing
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Proceeds from Coworker Stock Purchase Plan
Shares repurchased
Dividends paid
Excess tax benefits from equity-based compensation
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashue@lents
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalent
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents—end of period
Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid
Taxes paid, net

Six Months Ended June 30,

2015 2014
$ 162.¢ $ 137.F
105.1 104.C
12.2 7.€
(45.2) (44.4)
0.7 0.2
3.1 3.2
24.% 8.C
(7.9 —
1.7 —
(157.7) (75.7)
(98.9) (67.6)
(20.1) (19.5)
151.¢ 146.
(34.7) (25.7)
1.7 1.
99.1 175.¢
(22.9 (21.0)
— (20.9)
(0.5) —
(23.9) (41.9)
(7.7) (7.7)
525.( —
(525.9) (123.)
(6.6) (6.4)
412 55.C
1. 0.8
4.2 2.C
(91.79) —
(23.29) (14.6)
0.2 —
(83.1) (94.7)
(1.4) 0.2
(8.6) 39.
344 188.1
$ 3357 $ 227.€
$ (819 $ (99.5)
$ (1239 $ (111.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business and Summary of SignificanAccounting Policie:

Description of Business

CDW Corporation (“Parent”) is a Fortune 500 company a leading provider of integrated informatiechinology (“IT”) solutions
to small, medium and large business, governmentatthn and healthcare customers in the U.S. anddza The Company's
offerings range from discrete hardware and softyapelucts to integrated IT solutions such as mighitiecurity, data center
optimization, cloud computing, virtualization anallaboration.

Throughout these notes, the terms the “Company™&miV” refer to Parent and its 100% owned subsid&r

Parent has two 100% owned subsidiaries, CDW LLCG@RW Finance Corporation. CDW LLC is an lllinoigiiited liability
company that, together with its 100% owned subs&Baholds all material assets and conducts aihess activities and operations
of the Company. CDW Finance Corporation is a Detavearporation formed for the sole purpose of @ctia co-issuer of certain
debt obligations as described in Note 8 and doehald any material assets or engage in any busmetévities or operations.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidatearfoial statements as of June 30, 2015 and forixhaanths ended June 30,
2015 and 2014 (the “consolidated financial statasi¢have been prepared in conformity with accaumprinciples generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAARi}dhe rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”) for interim financial statements. Acdorgly, certain information and footnote disclosurermally included in financial
statements prepared in accordance with GAAP hage bendensed or omitted pursuant to such rulesegndations. These
consolidated financial statements should be readmunction with the audited consolidated finahstatements included in the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeatesl December 31, 2014 (the “ December 31, 20Bhial statements”he
significant accounting policies used in preparingsie consolidated financial statements were apphetibasis consistent with those
reflected in the December 31, 2014 financial state In the opinion of management, the consolitfitancial statements contain
all adjustments (consisting of a normal, recurmadgure) necessary to present fairly the Compameasial position, results of
operations, comprehensive income, cash flows aadg#s in shareholders' equity as of the datesarttid periods indicated. The
unaudited consolidated statements of operationsuch interim periods reported are not necessiadigative of results for the full
year.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of Parent and its 100% ownbdigiaries. All
intercompany transactions and accounts are eligdniatconsolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in accordance with GAAP requires managenoemiatke use of certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities and disclosur@atingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statememdstihe reported amounts of revenue and expensegydbe reported periods. The
Company bases its estimates on historical expe¥iand on various other assumptions that managdméeaves are reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which fitrenbasis for making judgments about carrying \&hfeassets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Aaesllts could differ from those estimates.

The notes to the consolidated financial statemem$ained in the December 31, 2014 financial statéminclude an additional
discussion of the significant accounting policias @stimates used in the preparation of the Conipaoysolidated financial
statements. There have been no material changlee @ompany's significant accounting policies asttheates during the sixionths
ended June 30, 2015 .
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory

In July 2015, the Financial Accounting Standarda@qthe “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Upda&sU™) 2015-11 that
simplifies the subsequent measurement of inverigmequiring inventory to be measured at the loofarost and net realizable
value instead of the lower of cost or market valilee new standard is effective for the Companyiti@gg in the first quarter of
2017, with early adoption permitted. The new staddaust be applied prospectively after the datedufption. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact that the standaitbh&ve on its consolidated financial positionsutts of operations and cash flows.

Customelrs Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud ComputinctpAgement

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-05 to hefities evaluate the accounting for fees paid bystomer in a cloud
computing arrangement by providing guidance ashether an arrangement includes the sale or licehseftware. The new
standard is effective for the Company beginninthanfirst quarter of 2016, with early adoption péted. An entity can elect to adc
the amendments either prospectively to all arrarggesnentered into or materially modified after #fiective date or retrospectively.
The Company already accounts for fees paid in @adctmmputing arrangement utilizing the method aetli by ASU 2015-05 and is
not impacted by this new standard.

Debt Issuance Costs

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03 that ad®ethe presentation of debt issuance costs. Teadments in this ASU
require that deferred financing costs related tiecagnized debt liability be presented in the bedasheet as a direct deduction from
the carrying amount of that debt liability, consigtwith debt discounts. The recognition and mesament guidance for deferred
financing costs are not affected by the amendniaritéis ASU. The new standard is effective for @@mpany beginning in the first
quarter of 2016, with early adoption permitted. Bkendard requires retrospective application tprdr periods (i.e., the balance
sheet for each period presented is adjusted).

The Company has elected to early adopt this nemdata beginning in the second quarter of 2015.uAeJ30, 2015, the Company
classified deferred financing costs as a directdgdn from the carrying value of the long-term tidibility on the consolidated
balance sheet. The Company retroactively adjustedi¢ferred financing costs and long-term debitliiglpresented as of December
31, 2014 by reducing the long-term debt liabilitythe amount of the deferred financing costs aimdieating the presentation of
deferred financing costs as an asset on the cdiasetl balance sheet. These adjustments have notiompaonsolidated net income,
comprehensive income, total shareholders’ equéghdlows, or the total net leverage ratio, asndefiin the Company’s credit
agreement. The Company has determined that thetatuats are not material either individually oaggregate to any of its
previously issued consolidated financial statements

A summary of the revisions to the consolidated medasheet at December 31, 2014 is as follows:

December 31, 2014

(in millions) As Previously Reported Revision As Revised
Deferred financing costs, net $ 33.C % (33.0 $ —
Long-term debt $ (3,174.6) $ 33.C % (3,141.¢

Consolidation

In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-02 éina¢nds the current consolidation guidance. The dments affect both the
variable interest entity (VIE) and voting interesttity (VOE) consolidation models. The new standareffective for the Company
beginning in the first quarter of 2016, with eaailjoption permitted. The standard allows for eithéuxll retrospective approach or a
modified retrospective approach. This new standambt expected to have a material impact on the@amy’s consolidated
financial position, results of operations and ciaivs.
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue Recognition

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2008; which clarifies the standard for recognizingerue from contracts with customers.
standard outlines a single comprehensive modedrtties to use in accounting for revenue arishogf contracts with customers ¢
supersedes the current revenue recognition guidéamdely 2015, the FASB approved the deferrahefeffective date by one year.
The new standard will be effective for the Compheginning in the first quarter of 2018 with eartjoation in the first quarter of
2017 permitted. The standard allows for eitherllarétrospective approach or a modified retrospectipproach. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact that the standaitbh&ve on its consolidated financial positionsutts of operations and cash flows.

3. Inventory Financing Agreements

The Company has entered into agreements with nditeincial intermediaries to facilitate the pursbaf inventory from various
suppliers under certain terms and conditions, asrd®ed below. These amounts are classified sega@ accounts payable-
inventory financing on the accompanying consoliddtalance sheets. The Company does not incur senest expense associated
with these agreements as balances are paid wheatbelue.

The following table presents the amounts includeddcounts payable-inventory financing:

June 30, December 31,
(in millions) 2015 2014
Revolving Loan inventory financing agreement $ 3722 % 330.1
Other inventory financing agreements 0.6 2.C
Accounts payable-inventory financing $ 373§ 332.]

The Company's Revolving Loan described in Noteldwéncludes an inventory floorplan sdi&eility in conjunction with the relate
Revolving Loan inventory financing agreement witfin@ncial intermediary to facilitate the purchagenventory from a certain
vendor. Amounts outstanding under the RevolvingrLio&entory financing agreement are unsecured aneimterest bearing.

The Company also maintains other inventory finageigreements with financial intermediaries to feat# the purchase of inventc
from certain vendors. At June 30, 2015 and Decer@beP014 , amounts owed under other inventoryntiveg agreements of $0.9
million and $2.0 million , respectively, were cd#ealized by the inventory purchased under thesmfiing agreements and a second
lien on the related accounts receivable.

4, Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt was as follows:

Interest June 30, December 31,

(dollars in millions) Rate® 2015 2014

Senior secured asset-based revolving credit facilit —% $ — 3 —
Senior secured term loan facility 3.25% 1,505.¢ 1,513t
Unamortized discount on senior secured term loeifitia (3.3 (3.7
Senior notes due 2019 8.5% — 503.¢
Unamortized premium on senior notes due 2019 — 1.3
Senior notes due 2022 6.C% 600.( 600.(
Senior notes due 2023 5.C% 525.( —
Senior notes due 2024 5.5% 575.( 575.(
Unamortized deferred financing co&ts (32.9 (33.0
Total long-term debt 3,169.¢ 3,157.(
Less current maturities of long-term debt (15.9 (15.9
Long-term debt, excluding current maturities $ 3,154.. $ 3,141.¢

(1) Interest rate at June 30, 2015 .
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(2) Refer to Note 2, Recent Accounting Pronouncédsdar a description of the change in the presemaf deferred
financing costs during the second quarter of 2015.

At June 30, 2015, the Company remained in compdianith the covenants under its various credit @gents. Under the credit
agreement governing the Senior Secured Term LoaititiFdhere are restrictions on the ability of CDWpay dividends, make shz
repurchases, redeem subordinated debt and engaggain other transactions. At June 30, 2015atheunt of CDW's restricted
payment capacity under the Senior Secured Term Eaaility was $777.9 million .

Senior Secured Ass8&ased Revolving Credit Facility Revolving Loafi)

At June 30, 2015 , the Company had no outstandingptings under the Revolving Loan, $2.1 millionusfdrawn letters of credit
and $359.4 million reserved related to the floan@ab-facility. At June 30, 2015 , the borrowing®avas $1,342.2 million based on
the amount of eligible inventory and accounts nemigle balances as of May 31, 2015. The Companydduane borrowed up to an
additional $888.5 million under the Revolving LaanJune 30, 2015 .

The Revolving Loan includes an inventory floorpkarb-facility that is related to the Revolving Laamentory financing agreement
with a financial intermediary. At June 30, 2016e financial intermediary reported an outstandialghce of $359.4 million under
the Revolving Loan inventory financing agreemeffite Bmount included on the Company's consolidatithba sheet as of June 30,
2015 as accounts payable-inventory financing réladehe Revolving Loan inventory financing agreetnef $372.4 millionincludes

a $13.0 million accrual for amounts in transit.

Senior Secured Term Loan FacilityTerm Loari)

At June 30, 2015 , the outstanding principal amatitihe Term Loan was $1,505.8 million . The tatet leverage ratio was 3.0 at
June 30, 2015 . The total net leverage ratio isddfas the ratio of total debt at period-end ediclg any unamortized discount
and/or premium and unamortized deferred financogis; less cash and cash equivalents, to traiketyé months adjusted earnings
before taxes, interest expense, and depreciatida@nortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”), a non-GAAP meas defined in the
Company's credit agreement. An interest rate &%.2comprised of the 1.0% LIBOR floor plus a 2.28%rgin, was in effect
during the six-month period ended June 30, 2015 .

In order to manage the risk associated with chaimgiggerest rates on borrowings under the Termnl,.dlae Company maintains
interest rate cap agreements. During the year eddedmber 31, 2014, the Company entered into fenritgerest rate cap
agreements at a rate of 2.0% with a combined naltamount of $1,000.0 million . During the six-meriod ended June 30,
2015, the Company entered into six interest rapeagreements at a rate of 2.0% with a combinddmadtamount of $400.0
million . Under the 2015 agreements, the Compangeanemium payments totaling $0.5 million to themterparties in exchange
for the right to receive payments equal to the amhdfiany, by which the three-month LIBOR exce@d3% during the agreement
period. These interest rate cap agreements ardieffidrom January 14, 2015 through January 14720he fair value of the
Company's interest rate cap agreements was $dibmahd $1.7 million at June 30, 2015 and Decen¥ie2014 , respectively.
Previously, the Company had ten interest rate gagements with a combined notional amount of $1&tlllion that expired on
January 14, 2015.

The Company's interest rate cap agreements hau®naotdesignated as cash flow hedges of interestis for GAAP accounting
purposes. The interest rate cap agreements aneleekat fair value on the Company’s consolidatddriz® sheet in other assets each
period, with changes in fair value recorded disetdlinterest expense in the Company's consolidstegeément of operations. The -
value of the Company's interest rate cap agreeneenlassified as Level 2 in the fair value hiehgrcThe valuation of the interest
rate cap agreements is derived by using a discdwatsh flow analysis on the expected cash rectiptsvould occur if variable
interest rates rise above the period to maturity, asses observable market-based inputs, includiB@®R curves and implied
volatilities. The Company also incorporates indigaint credit valuation adjustments to appropriateflect the respective
counterparty's nonperformance risk in the fair ealueasurements. The counterparty credit spreadsaaesl on publicly available
credit information obtained from a third party dtethta provider.

8.5%Senior Notes due 20192019 Senior Noté3

At June 30, 2015, there were no outstanding 2@80% Notes.

11




Table of Contents
CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On March 3, 2015, the proceeds from the issuantieeo?023 Senior Notes, discussed below, along eaigih on hand, were
deposited with the trustee to redeem the remai®&@.9 million aggregate principal amount of th&2&enior Notes at a
redemption price of 104.25% of the principal amawaeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest dqutaot including, the date of
redemption, April 2, 2015. On the same date, thderture governing the 2019 Senior Notes was sadisfind discharged and the
Company was released from its remaining obligabipthe trustee. In connection with this redemptibie, Company recorded a loss
on extinguishment of long-term debt of $24.3 miilio the consolidated statement of operationstfersix months ended June 30,
2015, which was comprised of $4.2 million for thete-off of the remaining unamortized deferredaficing fees and a redemption
premium of $21.4 million , partially offset by $1ndillion for the write-off of the remaining unami¢d premium.

5.0%Senior Notes due 20232023 Senior Not€&3

At June 30, 2015, the outstanding principal amadi2023 Senior Notes was $525.0 million .

On March 3, 2015, CDW LLC and CDW Finance Corpamtias co-issuers, completed the issuance of $528i6n aggregate
principal amount of 2023 Senior Notes at par. F#&6.8 million related to the 2023 Senior Noteseveapitalized as deferred
financing costs and are being amortized over tira té the notes on a straight-line basis. The 28@8ior Notes will mature on
September 1, 2023 and bear interest at a rat®¥%§ per annum, payable semi-annually on March 1Seutember 1 of each year.

CDW LLC and CDW Finance Corporation are the co-ésswf the 2023 Senior Notes and the obligatioreuthe notes are
guaranteed by Parent and each of CDW LLC's dimedtiadirect, wholly owned, domestic subsidiariese 023 Senior Notes
indenture contains negative covenants that, amtrey things, place restrictions and limitationstloa ability of Parent and each of
CDW LLC's direct and indirect 100% owned domestibsidiaries to enter into sale and lease-backacims, incur additional
secured indebtedness, and create liens. The imdegwerning the 2023 Senior Notes does not coatayrfinancial covenants.

Fair Value

The fair values of the 2022, 2023, and 2024 SeMaies were estimated using quoted market priceslémtical assets or liabilities
that are traded in over-the-counter secondary nsitkat are not considered active. The fair valuh® Term Loan was estimated
using dealer quotes for identical assets or litiadlin markets that are not considered active s€quently, the Company's long-term
debt is classified as Level 2 within the fair vahierarchy.

The approximate fair values and related carryingesof the Company's long-term debt, includingentr maturities and excluding
unamortized discount and/or premium and unamortilefdrred financing costs, were as follows:

June 30, December 31,
(in millions) 2015 2014
Fair value $ 3,206.7 $ 3,208."
Carrying value 3,205.¢ 3,192..

5. Earnings per Share

The numerator for both basic and diluted earniregsshare is net income. The denominator for basiciegs per share is the
weighted average number of common shares outsiquddiring the period. The dilutive effect of outstary restricted stock,
restricted stock units, stock options, and Cowofexck Purchase Plan units is reflected in the aemator for diluted earnings per
share using the treasury stock method.

The following is a reconciliation of basic sharegliluted shares:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(in millions) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Weighted-average shares - basic 171.C 170.2 171.€ 169.¢
Effect of dilutive securities 1kt 2.t 14 2.€
Weighted-average shares - diluted 172t 172. 173.( 172t
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There were 0.9 million and 0.7 million potentiahmmon shares excluded from diluted earnings peresioaithe three and six month
periods ended June 30, 2015 , respectively, asittehiision would have had an anti-dilutive efféethere was an insignificant
amount of potential common shares excluded frootetl earnings per share for the three and sixtimumeriods ended June 30,
2014 .

6. Commitments and Contingencie

The Company is party to various legal proceedihgs arise in the ordinary course of its busines$sclvinclude commercial,
intellectual property, employment, tort and othiggtion matters. The Company is also subjectuditeby federal, state and local
authorities, by various partners, group purchasiggnizations and customers, including governmgeneies, relating to purchases
and sales under various contracts. In additionCi@pany is subject to indemnification claims uneaiious contracts. From time to
time, certain customers of the Company file voluntzetitions for reorganization or liquidation umdlee U.S. bankruptcy laws. In
such cases, certain pre-petition payments recdiygtle Company could be considered preference itardssubject to return to the
bankruptcy administrator.

As of June 30, 2015 , the Company does not bettmtethere is a reasonable possibility that anyensdtloss exceeding the amounts
already recognized for these proceedings and rsattemy, has been incurred. However, the ultinmaselutions of these
proceedings and matters are inherently unprediet®{s such, the Company's financial condition asliits of operations could be
adversely affected in any particular period byuhévorable resolution of one or more of these @edings or matters.

7. Segment Informatior

Segment information is presented in accordance avithanagement approach,” which designates thenalteeporting used by the
chief operating decision-maker for making decisiand assessing performance as the source of thp&ys reportable segments.
The Company's segments are organized in a mannsistent with which separate financial informatismvailable and evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision-makedétiding how to allocate resources and in asseggrfgrmance.

The Company has tweportable segments: Corporate, which is compipsidarily of private sector business customers, Ruablic,
which is comprised of government agencies and eadurcand healthcare institutions. The Company hb®three other operating
segments, CDW Advanced Services, Canada, and Kéllap§o Limited (“Kelway”), which do not meet thepatable segment
guantitative thresholds and, accordingly, are coadbiin an all other category (“Other”).

The Company has centralized logistics and headepsaitinctions that provide services to the segméiis logistics function

includes purchasing, distribution and fulfillmeetgices to support both the Corporate and Pubfimsats. As a result, costs and
intercompany charges associated with the logitiestion are fully allocated to both of these segtadased on a percent of sales.
The centralized headquarters function providesises\in areas such as accounting, information w@olgy, marketing, legal and
coworker services. Headquarters' function costsatenot allocated to the segments are includeénthe heading of
“Headquarters” in the tables below. Depreciatiopemse is included in Headquarters as it is notatkd among segments or used in
measuring segment performance.

The Company allocates resources to and evaluati&Espance of its segments based on net sales, m¢lm®s) from operations and
Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure as definechen€ompany's credit agreements. However, the Coyrtpasiconcluded that
income (loss) from operations is a more useful mesam terms of discussion of operating resultst esa GAAP measure.

Segment information for total assets and capitpkasitures is not presented as such informationtisised in measuring segment
performance or allocating resources between segment
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Selected Segment Financial Information

The following table presents information about @@mpany’s segments for the three and six monthsdeddne 30, 2015 and 2014 :

(in millions) Corporate Public Other Headquarters Total
Three Months Ended June 30, 2015:

Net sales $ 1,761 $ 1,374 $ 178.2 % — % 3,314.(
Income (loss) from operations 130.t 94.7 9.7 (29.0 205.¢
Depreciation and amortization expense (24.7) (10.9 2.9 (15.9 (52.6)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2014:

Net sales $ 1,656.: $ 1,271.¢ $ 178.2 $ — $ 3,106.(
Income (loss) from operations 119.5 88.¢ 7.€ (27.9 188.2
Depreciation and amortization expense (24.7) (20.9 (2.2 (14.¢) (52.0
(in millions) Corporate Public Other Headquarters Total

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015:

Net sales $ 3,335.0  $ 2,380.. $ 353.8 % — $ 6,069.:
Income (loss) from operations 240. 154.% 19.¢ (57.9) 357.t
Depreciation and amortization expense (48.7) (21.9 (4.6 (30.5 (105.7)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2014:

Net sales $ 3,161.¢ $ 2,241 $ 355.C % — $ 5,758.:

Income (loss) from operations 220.7 142.¢ 14.2 (53.79) 324.(

Depreciation and amortization expense (48.2) (21.9) 4.3 (29.7) (204.0
8. Supplemental Guarantor Information

The 2022 Senior Notes, the 2023 Senior Notes am@@84 Senior Notes are, and, prior to being reédamfull, the 2019 Senior
Notes, the Senior Subordinated Notes, and the E8eicured Notes were guaranteed by Parent ancoé&ibW LLC’s direct and
indirect, 100% owned, domestic subsidiaries (thad@ntor Subsidiaries”). All guarantees by Paredt@uarantor Subsidiaries are
and were joint and several, and full and uncondéipprovided that guarantees by the Guarantori8ialoies (i) are subject to certe
customary release provisions contained in the idtea governing the 2022 Senior Notes, the 202388lotes and the 2024 Sen
Notes and (ii) were subject to certain customalyase provisions contained in the indentures gangrine 2019 Senior Notes, the
Senior Subordinated Notes and the Senior SecuréssNmtil such indentures were satisfied and digghthin 2014 and the first
quarter of 2015. CDW LLC's Canada subsidiary (tReri-Guarantor Subsidiary”) does not guarantee #ft dbligations. CDW

LLC and CDW Finance Corporation, as co-issuers,186% owned by Parent, and each of the Guarantusidaries and the Non-
Guarantor Subsidiary is 100% owned by CDW LLC.

The following tables set forth condensed consadlidglbalance sheets as of June 30, 2015 and Dec&hp2014, consolidating
statements of operations for the three and six hsoahded June 30, 2015 and 2014 , condensed atatsali statements of
comprehensive income for the three and six montds@ June 30, 2015 and 2014 , and condensed atatdwdi statements of cash
flows for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 20n accordance with Rule 3-10 of Regulation .SFXe consolidating financial
information includes the accounts of CDW Corpomaiithe “Parent Guarantor”), which has no indepehdssets or operations, the
accounts of CDW LLC (the “Subsidiary Issuer”), twmbined accounts of the Guarantor Subsidiariesatitounts of the Non-
Guarantor Subsidiary, and the accounts of CDW Kie&orporation (the “Co-lssuerfdr the periods indicated. The information \
prepared on the same basis as the Company’s coatealifinancial statements.
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June 30, 2015

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ — $ 313¢ % — 5 37.t — 3 (15.79) $ 335.7
Accounts receivable, net — — 1,647.¢ 64.7 — — 1,712t
Merchandise inventory — — 432.F 3.7 — — 436.2
Miscellaneous receivables — 55.1 126.€ 7.C — — 188.%
Prepaid expenses and other — 12.5 30.¢ 0.4 — 2.9 41.2
Total current assets — 381.: 2,237.¢ 113.2 — (18.0) 2,714
Property and equipment, net — 79.¢ 53.k 0.€ — — 134.
Equity investments — 95.4 — — — — 95.4
Goodwill — 751.¢ 1,439.( 24.¢ — — 2,215.¢
Other intangible assets, net — 310.t 7745 4.4 — — 1,089.«
Other assets 4.3 2.1 0.1 1.t — (5.8 2.2
Investment in and advances to
subsidiaries 991.t 2,878.: — — — (3,869.9 —
Total assets $ 995.6 $ 4,499.. $ 4504¢ $ 144.¢ — $ (3,893 $ 6,251
Liabilities and Shareholders’
Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable—trade  $ — 3 175 % 822.¢ $ 29.t — 3 (15.7) $ 853.¢
Accounts payable—inventory
financing — — 373.: — — — 373.:
Current maturities of
long-term debt — 15.4 — — — — 15.4
Deferred revenue — — 56.t — — — 56.5
Accrued expenses — 146.¢ 174.¢ 7.€ — (2.9 326.t
Total current liabilities — 179.: 1,427.: 37.1 — (18.0 1,625.¢
Long-term liabilities:
Debt — 3,154.: — — — — 3,154.:
Deferred income taxes — 129.¢ 301.¢ 1.2 — (4.2 428.2
Other liabilities — 44.€ 3.7 0.7 — (1.€) 47 .4
Total long-term liabilities — 3,328.¢ 305.: 1.¢ — (5.9 3,629.¢
Total shareholders’ equity 995.¢ 991.t 2,772 105.¢ — (3,869.9) 995.¢
Total liabilities and shareholders’
equity 995.6 $ 4,499.. $ 4504¢ $ 144.¢ — $ (3,893 $ 6,251
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
December 31, 2014

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ — $ 346¢ $ — 9 24€ $ — 3 (26.5) $ 344.t
Accounts receivable, net — — 1,479.: 82.C — — 1,561.:
Merchandise inventory — — 333.¢ 3.€ — — 337.t
Miscellaneous receivables — 56.1 93.: 6.2 — — 155.¢
Prepaid expenses and other — 11.C 46.C iIE — (3.9 54.7
Total current assets — 413t 1,952.: 117.¢ — (30.9) 2,453«
Property and equipment, net — 80.t 55.k 1.2 — — 137.2
Equity investments — 86.7 — — 86.7
Goodwill — 751.¢ 1,439.( 26.¢ — — 2,217.¢
Other intangible assets, net — 320.( 843.¢ 5.2 — — 1,168.¢
Other assets 4.3 3.2 0.4 1.4 — (6.2) 3.2
Investment in and advances to
subsidiaries 932.: 2,784 — — — (3,716.) —
Total assets $ 936.f $ 4440 $ 4,290¢ $ 152t $ — $ (3,753.) $ 6,066.¢
Liabilities and Shareholders’
Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable-trade $ — % 23¢ % 671.¢ $ 347 % — (26.5) $ 704.(
Accounts payable-inventory
financing — — 332.1 — — — 332.1
Current maturities of long-term
debt — 15.4 — — — — 15.4
Deferred revenue — — 79.¢ 1.4 — — 81.c
Accrued expenses — 137.¢ 193.¢ 7.6 — 4.2 335.2
Total current liabilities — 177.1 1,277t 44.C — (30.6) 1,468.(
Long-term liabilities:
Debt — 3,141.¢ — — — — 3,141.¢
Deferred income taxes — 146.5 331.c 3 — (4.3 475.(
Other liabilities — 42.¢€ 3.7 1.C — (2.5 45.¢
Total long-term liabilities — 3,330.¢ 335.( 3 — (5.9 3,662.
Total shareholders’ equity 936.- 932.- 2,678.0 106.z — (3,716.) 936.-
Total liabilities and shareholders’
equity $ 9365 $ 4,440 $ 42908 9 152t $ — $ (3,753.) $ 6,066.¢
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Consolidating Statement of Operations
Three Months Ended June 30, 2015

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating

(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — $ — $ 3,187. % 126.¢ $ — $ — $ 3,314.(
Cost of sales — — 2,667.¢ 111.€ — — 2,779.!
Gross profit — — 519.: 15.2 — — 534.t
Selling and administrative expenses — 29.1 252.¢ 8.€ — — 290.¢
Advertising expense — — 36.€ 1.1 — — 38.C
Income (loss) from operations — (29.7) 229t 5.8 — — 205.¢
Interest (expense) income, net — (37.9) — — — — (37.9)
Net loss on extinguishments of long-

term debt — — — — — — —
Management fee — 1.2 — (1.2 — — —
Other income (expense), net — 3.8 0.3 (0.2 — — 4.C
Income (loss) before income taxes — (61.9 229.¢ 4.2 — — 172.1
Income tax benefit (expense) — 23.C (85.7) (1.2 — — (63.9)
Income (loss) before equity in

earnings of subsidiaries — (38.9 144.1 3.C — — 108.2
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 108.2 147.1 — — (255.9) —
Net income $ 108:Z $ 108: $ 1441 % 3C $ — 3 (255.9) $ 108.:
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Consolidating Statement of Operations
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating

(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — $ — $ 2972¢ % 1331 % — $ — $ 3,106.(
Cost of sales — — 2,492« 116.% — — 2,609.:
Gross profit — — 480.5 16.4 — — 496.¢
Selling and administrative expenses — 27.¢ 237.2 8.¢ — — 273.¢
Advertising expense — — 33.€ 1.2 — — 34.¢
Income (loss) from operations — (27.¢) 209.7 6.2 — — 188.z
Interest (expense) income, net — (48.5) — — — — (48.5)
Net loss on extinguishments of long-

term debt — (2.6) — — — — (2.6)
Management fee — 1.0 — (2.0 — — —
Other (expense) income, net — — 0.3 (0.2 — — 0.1
Income (loss) before income taxes — (77.9 210.( 5.1 — — 137.2
Income tax benefit (expense) — 29.C (78.2) (1.9 — — (50.€)
Income (loss) before equity in

earnings of subsidiaries — (48.9) 131.¢ 3.7 — — 86.¢€
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 86.¢ 135.t — — — (222.7) —
Net income $ 86 $ 86.6 $ 131.¢ % 37 $ — 3 (222.7) $ 86.€
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Consolidating Statement of Operations
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating

(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — $ — $ 5814° % 254t % — $ — $ 6,069.:
Cost of sales — — 4,854.; 224.( — — 5,078.:
Gross profit — — 960.5 30.5 — — 991.(
Selling and administrative expenses — 57.4 491.¢ 17.2 — — 566.1
Advertising expense — — 65.€ 1.6 — — 67.4
Income (loss) from operations — (57.9) 403.t 11.¢ — — 357.k
Interest (expense) income, net — (82.9) — 0.2 — — (82.€)
Net loss on extinguishments of long-

term debt — (24.9) — — — — (24.%)
Management fee — 2.2 — (2.2) — — —
Other income (expense), net — 7.9 1.C (0.9 — — 8.t
Income (loss) before income taxes — (154.9) 404.t 9.C — — 259.1
Income tax benefit (expense) — 57.¢ (151.5 (2.5 — — (96.2)
Income (loss) before equity in

earnings of subsidiaries — (96.€) 253.( 6.5 — — 162.¢
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 162.¢ 259t — — — (422.9 —
Net income $ 162¢ $ 162¢ $ 253.C $ 6. $ — 3 (422.9) $ 162.¢
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Consolidating Statement of Operations

Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating

(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — 3 — $ 5491 % 267.2 $ — $ 5,758.
Cost of sales — — 4,600.( 236.2 — 4,836..
Gross profit — — 891.1 31.C — 922.1
Selling and administrative expenses — 53.7 463.5 17.€ — 534.¢
Advertising expense — — 61.4 1.¢ — 63.2
Income (loss) from operations — (53.7) 366.z 11t — 324.(
Interest (expense) income, net — (98.7) — 0.1 — (98.€)
Net loss on extinguishments of lon

term debt — (8.0 — — — (8.0
Management fee — 2.C — (2.0 — —
Other income (expense), net — — 0.7 (0.7 — 0.€
Income (loss) before income taxes — (158.9) 366.¢ 9.t — 218.(
Income tax benefit (expense) — 59.2 (137.)) (2.6) — (80.5)
Income (loss) before equity in

earnings of subsidiaries — (99.2) 229.¢ 6.¢ — 137.t
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 137.t 236.7 — — (374.9) —
Net income $ 1375 $ 137f $ 229.8 $ 6.9 $ (374.2) $ 137.t
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensiviecome
Three Months Ended June 30, 2015

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated

Comprehensive income $ 112¢ $ 112¢ % 1441 $ 78 9 — 3 (264.¢) $ 112.¢
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensiviecome
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated
Comprehensive income $ 90.2 $ 90.2 $ 131.¢ $ 74 $ — 3 (229.5) $ 90.2
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensiviecome
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated

Comprehensive income $ 156.6 $ 156.€ 9 253.( $ 02 $ — 3 (409.9) $ 156.¢
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensiviecome
Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated
Comprehensive income $ 137 $ 137: $ 229.6 % 6.7 $ — $ (373.9) $ 137.5
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated
Net cash (used in) provided by
operating activities $ — $ (769 % 150.1 $ 14€ $ — $ 108 $ 99.1
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures — (18.9) (4.2 0.3 — — (22.9
Premium payments on interest
rate cap agreements — (0.5 — — — — (0.5)
Net cash used in investing activitie: — (18.9 (4.2 (0.3 — — (23.9
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments of long-term debt — (7.7) — — — — (7.7)
Proceeds from the issuance of
long-term debt — 525.( — — — — 525.(
Payments to extinguish long-
term debt — (525.9) — — — — (525.9
Payments of debt financing costs — (6.9 — — — — (6.9
Net change in accounts payabl
inventory financing — — 41.2 — — — 41.2
Proceeds from stock option
exercises — 1.C — — — — 1.C
Proceeds from Coworker Stocl
Purchase Plan — 4.2 — — — — 4.2
Shares repurchased (91.79) — — — — — (91.9)
Dividends paid (23.2) — — — — — (23.2)
Excess tax benefits from equity-
based compensation — 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Advances from (to) affiliates 114.¢ 72.2 (187.7) — — — —
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities — 62.€ (145.9 — — — (83.7)
Effect of exchange rate changes ot
cash and cash equivalents — — — (1.9 — — (1.9
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents — (32.5) — 12.¢ — 10.¢ (8.9
Cash and cash equivalents—
beginning of period — 346.2 — 24.¢ — (26.5) 344t
Cash and cash equivalents—end of B )
period $ — 8 313¢ % — 8 378 % — 3 (1579 $ 335.%
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

Parent Subsidiary Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
(in millions) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiary Co-Issuer Adjustments Consolidated
Net cash (used in) provided by
operating activities $ — $ (112¢ % 269.¢ % 9€ $ — $ 9C $ 175.¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures — (19.7) (1.9 — — — (21.0
Payment of accrued charitable
contribution related to the MPK
Coworker Incentive Plan Il — (20.9 — — — — (20.9
Net cash used in investing activitie: — (40.0 (2.9 — — — (41.9
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments of long-term debt — (7.7) — — — — (7.7)
Payments to extinguish long-
term debt — (123.9) — — — — (123.9)
Payment of debt financing cos (6.4) (6.4)
Net change in accounts payable -
inventory financing — — 55.C — — — 55.C
Proceeds from stock option
exercises — 0.8 — — — — 0.8
Proceeds from Coworker Stock
Purchase Plan — 2.C — — — — 2.C
Dividends paid (14.¢) — — — — — (14.¢)
Advances from (to) affiliates 14.€ 308.( (323.0 0.4 — — —
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities — 172.¢ (268.0) 0.4 — — (94.7)
Effect of exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents — — — 0.2 — — 0.2
Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents — 20.2 — 10.2 — 9.C 39.t
Cash and cash equivalents—
beginning of period — 196.t — 14.C — (22.9) 188.1
Cash and cash equivalents—end @
period $ — 8 216.6 $ — 9 24z % — $ (139 $ 227.¢
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Related Party Transaction:

On May 22, 2015, the Company completed a pubfieriofy of 11.5 million shares of its common stogkdertain selling
stockholders, which included 1.5 million sharesidw} the selling stockholders to the underwritarsspant to the grant of an option
that was exercised in full. The Company did noeiee any proceeds from the sale of these shareM&@rl7, 2015 , the Company
entered into a share repurchase agreement withiceelling stockholders affiliated with Madisonddeorn Partners, LLC and
Providence Equity Partners, LLC pursuant to whtalepurchased 2.0 million shares of its commonksfoam such selling
stockholders. This share repurchase was effectagitvate, non-underwritten transaction for $3660 share, which was equal to
the per share price paid by the underwriters te#iing stockholders in connection with the pulolffering completed on May 22,
2015 .

Subsequent Event

On August 1, 2015, the Company completed the aitoui of Kelway TopCo Limited ("Kelway") by purchimg the remaining 65%
of its outstanding common stock. In total the Comyppaid $431.0 million , before transaction feed arpenses, of which $372.3
million was settled in cash and $58.7 million wattled by issuing certain of the sellers 1.6 millghares of CDW common stock.
The total purchase price includes the November 2@%# investment to acquire a 35% momtrolling interest in Kelway, which w.
accounted for using the equity method. As a rasfthe completion of the acquisition, the Companly also consolidate
approximately $80 million of Kelway debt. The sheod CDW common stock issued to the sellers argestito a three-year lock up
restriction from August 1, 2015. Kelway is a UKskd IT solutions provider which has cross-bordepsuchain relationships that
enable it to conduct business in over 80 countfiiés.acquisition will enhance the Company's abilitprovide IT solutions to US-
based customers with international locations.

All the inputs required for the completion of therghase price allocation were not available pathe filing of these financial
statements with the SEC. As a result, the Compaaypable to provide the amounts recognized asechthyuisition date for the
major classes of assets acquired and liabilitisarasd, including the information required for tteduation of intangible assets,
goodwill and the Company's 35% noantrolling interest. The Company will include tim$ormation in its Quarterly Report on Fa
10-Q for the three and nine months ended Septe8he2015.

On August 3, 2015, the Company announced thatagsdof Directors has declared a quarterly casidelind of $0.0675 per
common share to be paid on September 10, 2015 sbaeholders of record as of the close of businesAugust 25, 2015 . Future
dividends will be subject to Board approval.
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Item 2. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

Unless otherwise indicated or the context othenrésgiires, as used in this “Management’s Discussiod Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” the terms ;iwes,” “the Company,” “our,” “CDW” and similar te rms refer to CDW Corporation
and its subsidiaries. “Management’s Discussion &malysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gyieems” should be read in
conjunction with the unaudited interim consolidafedncial statements and the related notes indiuelsewhere in this report and with the
audited consolidated financial statements incluthethe Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forykar ended December 31, 2014 .
This discussion contains forward-looking statemémas are subject to numerous risks and uncertagtActual results may differ materially
from those contained in any forwelooking statements. See “Forward-Looking Statesieat the end of this discussion.

Overview

CDW is a Fortune 500 company and a leading prowaflértegrated information technology (“IT”) solatis in the U.S. and Canada.
We help our customer base of approximately 2509008ll, medium and large business, government, ¢éiducand healthcare customers by
delivering critical solutions to their increasingigmplex IT needs. Our broad array of offeringggesnfrom discrete hardware and software
products to integrated IT solutions such as maghiiecurity, data center optimization, cloud conmjtvirtualization and collaboration. We
are technology “agnostic,” with a product portfali@t includes more than 100,000 products from rtfeeia 1,000 brands. We provide our
products and solutions through sales force andcgedelivery teams consisting of nearly 4,600 cdeos, including more than 1,800 field
sellers, highly-skilled technology specialists auyanced service delivery engineers.

We are a leading U.S. sales channel partner foyradginal equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) andtaafre publishers
(collectively, our “vendor partners”), whose protiiae sell or include in the solutions we offer. YWdieve we are an important extension of
our vendor partners' sales and marketing capasiliproviding them with a cost-effective way toaleaustomers and deliver a consistent
brand experience through our established end-madwerage and extensive customer access.

We have two reportable segments: Corporate, whicliinprised primarily of private sector businessta@mers, and Public, which is
comprised of government agencies and educatiomealthcare institutions. Our Corporate segmenivisled into a medium/large business
customer channel, primarily serving customers witire than 100 employees, and a small businessnsestthannel, primarily serving
customers with up to 100 employees. We also haee thther operating segments, CDW Advanced Serv@asada, and Kelway TopCo
Limited (“Kelway”), which do not meet the reportaldegment quantitative thresholds and, accordiagé/combined in an all other category
(“Other”). The CDW Advanced Services business csirgirimarily of customized engineering servicdssdeed by technology specialists
and engineers, and managed services that incldidestructure as a Service (“laaS”) offerings. Raxenfrom the sale of hardware, software,
custom configuration and third-party provided seegi are recorded within our Corporate and Pubfiomsaits.

We may sell all or only select products that ourdar partners offer. Each vendor partner agreem@nides for specific terms and
conditions, which may include one or more of théofeing: product return privileges, price protectipolicies, purchase discounts and ver
incentive programs, such as purchase or salesaebatl cooperative advertising reimbursements. [$éerasell software for major software
publishers. Our agreements with software publishbosv the end-user customer to acquire softwaleensed products and services. In
addition to helping our customers determine the efsware solutions for their needs, we help theamage their software agreements,
including warranties and renewals. A significanttipm of our advertising and marketing expensasgiimbursed through cooperative
advertising reimbursement programs with our venqdotners. These programs are at the discretionrofendor partners and are typically
tied to sales or purchasing volumes or other comanitts to be met by us within a specified periotimoé.

Trends and key factors affecting our financial perbrmance
We believe the following trends may have an impartapact on our financial performance:

» Our Public segment sales are impacted by govenhspending policies, budget priorities and reedeuels. An adverse change in
any of these factors could cause our Public segmestomers to reduce their purchases or to termimahot renew contracts with
which could adversely affect our business, resfltgperations or cash flows. Although our salethiofederal government are
diversified across multiple agencies and departmehey collectively accounted for approximately, 7% and 10% of our net sales
for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 an?l, 284pectively. Through the second quarter of 28Ldblic segment results
were impacted by the combined and negative effifcdequestration, the partial shutdown of the fabdgovernment and federal
government budget uncertainty in 2013. Howevem e finalization of federal budget allocationsarly 2014 we began to see
improvement in federal sales in the remainder df20n the first half of 2015, sales to federaltonsers
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increased year-over-year by double digits as dtresincreased confidence as a federal budge2®d5 was already in place during
the first quarter of 2015. In the same period,s#destate and local customers also increasedoxearyear by double digits, driven
by the continued focus on public safety.

* An important factor affecting our ability to genate sales and achieve our targeted operatinjsésthe impact of general economic
conditions on our customers’ willingness to spendnformation technology. During the first half 2015 economic signals were
mixed. We will continue to closely monitor macroeomic conditions during the remainder of 2015. Utaiaties related to
potential changes in tax and regulatory policyeptitl interest rate increases, weakening consamebusiness confidence or
increased unemployment could result in reduceceterded spending on information technology prodacid services by our
customers and result in increased competitive qyipressures.

* We believe that our customers’ transition to encomplex technology solutions will continue todmeimportant growth area for us in
the future. However, because the market for tedgyoproducts and services is highly competitive, success at capitalizing on tl
transition will be based on our ability to tailgregific solutions to customer needs, the quality lareadth of our product and service
offerings, the knowledge and expertise of our skdese, price, product availability and speed diviey. During the first half of
2015, customer priorities shifted away from lasingfocus on client devices towards more integratdutions, which grew at a
faster rate than transactional sales. Howeverngbg business-to-business customer base as waliragiccess in providing new
client devices, we continued to see solid growthales of notebooks/mobile devices during the fiedt of 2015.

Key business metrics

Our management monitors a number of financial amdfimancial measures and ratios on a regular liagisder to track the
progress of our business and make adjustmentscassay. We believe that the most important ofetlmesasures and ratios include average
daily sales, gross margin, operating margin, nerime, Non-GAAP net income, net income per commamestiNon-GAAP net income per
diluted share, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, free kdbow, return on invested capital, cash and caghvalents, net working capital, cash
conversion cycle (defined to be days of sales antihg in accounts receivable plus days of supplgpventory minus days of purchases
outstanding in accounts payable, based on a ratiree-month average), debt levels including ab&laredit and leverage ratios, sales per
coworker, and coworker turnover. These measuresatius are compared to standards or objectivelsysatanagement, so that actions ca
taken, as necessary, in order to achieve the s@smdad objectives.

Non-GAAP net income and Adjusted EBITDA are non-GAfinancial measures. We believe these measurgglprbelpful
information with respect to our operating perform@and cash flows including our ability to meet future debt service, capital expenditu
and working capital requirements. Adjusted EBITDsoaprovides helpful information as it is the primmaneasure used in certain key
covenants and definitions contained in the creglit@ement governing the Company’s Senior Securech Tean Facility (the “Term Loan”),
including the excess cash flow payment provisiba,restricted payment covenant and the net leveedpe These covenants and definitions
are material components of the Term Loan as theysed in determining the interest rate applicedtee Term Loan, the Company’s ability
to make certain investments, incur additional dabt| make restricted payments, such as dividerdislzare repurchases, as well as whether
the Company is required to make additional pringgwapayments on the Term Loan beyond the quarsengrtization payments. See Long-
Term Debt and Financing Arrangements within Managyg’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condiitand Results of Operations and
Note 4 to the accompanying unaudited interim cadatdd financial statements included elsewhergimreport for further details regardi
the Term Loan.

See “Results of Operations” for the definitiondNain-GAAP net income and Adjusted EBITDA and recéations to net income.
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The results of certain of our key business metiesas follows:

Three Months Ended June 30,

(dollars in millions) 2015 2014

Net sales $ 3,314 $ 3,106.(
Gross profit 534.t 496.¢
Income from operations 205.¢ 188.2
Net income 108.2 86.€
Non-GAAP net income 139.( 115.¢
Adjusted EBITDA 268.( 247.1
Average daily sales 51.¢ 48.5
Net debt (defined as total debt minus cash and eqsivalents§" 2,833.¢ 2,866.¢
Cash conversion cycle (in day?3) 19 19

Q) As a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-03idgithe second quarter of 2015, historical perioglge been revised to reflect the
change in the presentation of deferred financirggs;avhich are now shown as a reduction of longrtaebt, instead of being
presented as a separate asset on the balance sheet.

(2 Cash conversion cycle is defined as dayslessautstanding in accounts receivable plus daysipply in inventory minus days of
purchases outstanding in accounts payable, basadalling three-month average.

Results of Operations
Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

The following table presents our results of operatj in dollars and as a percentage of net salet)d three months ended June 30,
2015 and 2014 :

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014

Dollars in Percentage of Dollars in Percentage of

Millions Net Sales Millions Net Sales
Net sales $ 3,314.( 100.(% $ 3,106.( 100.C %
Cost of sales 2,779.! 83.¢ 2,609.: 84.C
Gross profit 534.t 16.1 496.¢ 16.C
Selling and administrative expenses 290.¢ 8.¢ 273.¢ 8.€
Advertising expense 38.C 1.1 34.¢ 1.1
Income from operations 205.¢ 6.2 188.2 6.1
Interest expense, net (37.9) (1.2 (48.5) (1.6
Net loss on extinguishments of long-term debt — — (2.6) (0.2
Other income, net 4.C 0.1 0.1 —
Income before income taxes 172.1 5.2 137.2 4.4
Income tax expense (63.9 (1.9 (50.6) (1.6)
Net income $ 108.2 3.5% $ 86.€ 2.£%
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Net sales

The following table presents our net sales by segnie dollars and as a percentage of total nessahd the year-over-year dollar
and percentage change in net sales for the thre¢hsrended June 30, 2015 and 2014 :

Three Months Ended June 30,

2015 2014

Percentage Percentage

of Total of Total Dollar Percent
(dollars in millions) Net Sales Net Sales Net Sales Net Sales Change Change
Corporate $ 1,761.. 53.1% $ 1,656.: 53.% $ 105.2 6.2%
Public 1,374.. 41.C 1,271.¢ 40.¢ 102.¢ 8.1
Other 178.¢ 5.4 178.2 5.8 0.2 0.1
Total net sales $ 3,314.( 100.% $ 3,106.( 100.% $ 208.( 6.7%

The following table presents our net sales by ecustachannel for our Corporate and Public segmerdsfze year-over-year dollar
and percentage change in net sales for the threathsiended June 30, 2015 and 2014 .

Three Months Ended June 30,

Dollar Percent

(dollars in millions) 2015 2014 Change Change
Corporate:

Medium / Large $ 1,492.. $ 1,395.. $ 96.7 6.€%

Small Business 269.< 260.¢ 8.5 3.3

Total Corporate $ 1,761.c $ 1,656.. $ 105.2 6.2%
Public:

Government $ 385.C $ 3131 % 71.¢ 22.%

Education 546.] 527.C 19.1 3.€

Healthcare 443.1 431.F 11.€ 2.7

Total Public $ 1,374 $ 1,271.¢ $ 102.¢ 8.1%

Total net sales for the three months ended Jun2@G increased $208.0 million , or 6.7% , to $3,81million , compared to
$3,106.0 million for the three months ended June28Q@4 . There were 64 selling days for both tlieghmonths ended June 30, 2015 and
2014 . Customer priorities shifted more towardegnéted solutions, which drove higher growth irudohs sales compared to transactional
product sales. Strong sales performance in sokfiooused products was driven by netcomm, softaaceserver and serveslated product:
The growth in transactional products was led bybobks/mobile devices, which was partially offsgldecline in desktop computers.

Corporate segment net sales for the three monttededune 30, 2015 increased $105.2 million , dv6.8ompared to the three
months ended June 30, 2014 , driven by sales growidbth customer channels. Within our Corporatgrsent, net sales to medium/large
customers increased $96.7 million , or 6.9% , betwgeriods driven by netcomm, software and semfated products. Strong sales
performance in notebooks/mobile devices was pgriidfset by a decline in desktop computers. Né&séo small business customers
increased by $8.5 million , or 3.3% , between pigjded by growth in enterprise storage, netcommayets and notebooks/mobile devices,
which was partially offset by a decline in desktmpnputers.

Public segment net sales for the three months ehdeel 30, 2015 increased $102.6 million , or 8. Bétween periods, due to strong
sales performance in government, as well as grawéiducation and healthcare. Net sales to goverhmestomers increased $71.9 million ,
or 22.9% , between periods, as sales to both fededsstate/local government customers experiedoable-digit growth. The increase in net
sales to the federal government was driven by dromvisales of desktop computers, netcomm prodaotsnotebook/mobile devices as we
continued to benefit from strategic changes madeetter align with new federal government purchg@rograms implemented last year. A
continued focus on public safety drove the incréaset sales to state/local government customeérich was led by growth in sales of
netcomm products, enterprise storage and softWaatesales to education customers increased $1%idnmior 3.6% , between periods,
driven by strong sales performance in K-12. Groiwtkales to K-12 customers was slower during tlcerse quarter of 2015 compared to the
prior year's significant growth rate, led by higlsaies of notebooks/mobile devices which was phrtidfset by declines in sales of netcomm
products as school districts held off making thpsechases until eRate funding commitment lettensvirehand. Net sales to healthcare
customers increased $11.6 million , or 2.7% , betwgeriods driven by an increase in netcomm
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products and software partially offset by a declindesktop computers. Healthcare sales expandedves growth slowed during the second
quarter of 2015 compared to the prior year reffecthe continuing impact of consolidation in thaltiecare industry.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased $37.6 million , or 7.6% $&84.5 million for the three months ended June28Q5 , compared to $496.9
million for the three months ended June 30, 2044 a percentage of total net sales, gross prafiegsed 10 basis points to 16.1% for the
three months ended June 30, 2015 , up from 16.0%héathree months ended June 30, 2014 .

Gross profit margin was positively impacted 10 bagsiints due to a higher mix of revenue recorded oat basis, such as
commission revenue and net service contract revelmmmission revenue, including agency fees eaoneshles of software licenses and
software assurance under enterprise agreements,gasstive impact on our gross profit margin, &record the fee or commission as a
component of net sales when earned and theredsmesponding cost of sales. Net service conteatnue, including items such as third-
party services, warranties and software as a s(V&aaS"), also has a positive impact on grosft pnargin as our cost paid to the vendor or
third-party service provider is recorded as a rédado net sales, resulting in net sales beingktputhe gross profit on the transaction.
Additionally, we experienced a favorable impacii6fbasis points from vendor partner funding. Verghmtner funding includes purchase
discounts, volume rebates and cooperative advegti§iartially offsetting these items was a 10 bsiat decline in product margin due to a
higher percentage of net sales coming from larggerdiers.

The gross profit margin may fluctuate based onowerifactors, including vendor incentive and inveyfarice protection programs,
cooperative advertising funds classified as a rédnof cost of sales, product mix, net servicettat revenue, commission revenue, pricing
strategies, market conditions and other factors.

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased $hélion , or 6.1% , to $290.6 million for the tleenonths ended June 30, 2015,
compared to $273.9 million for the three monthseehdune 30, 2014 . Sales payroll costs increas2® $dillion, or 10.2% between quarters,
primarily driven by increased sales compensatiomfhigher growth in solutions-related compensagiaial to specialists and technical
experts and overall growth in sales and grosstpiafaddition, certain coworker costs increased $3illion, or 6.0%, during the quarter
ended June 30, 20®mpared to the prior year period due to highetscosnsistent with increased coworker count. Tooalorker count wa
7,278 , up 127 from 7,151 at June 30, 2014 . Tatalorker count was 7,211 at December 31, 2014a percentage of total net sales, selling
and administrative expenses remained consistéh8% in the second quarter of 2015 and 2014 .

Advertising expens

Advertising expense increased $3.2 million , oB®.40 $38.0 million for the three months endedel8@, 2015 , compared to $34.8
million for the prior year period. As a percentafeotal net sales, advertising expense remainedistent at 1.1% for the three months ended
June 30, 2015 and 2014 . The dollar increase iaréiding expense was primarily due to the timingeftain promotional activities and an
increase in digital advertising.
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Income from operation

The following table presents income from operatiopsegment, in dollars and as a percentage cfates, and the year-over-year
percentage change in income from operations fothite® months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 :

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014
Operating Operating Percent Change
Dollars in Margin Dollars in Margin in Income (Loss)
Millions Percentage Millions Percentage from Operations
Segments®
Corporate $ 130. 7% $ 119.7 7.2% 9.1%
Public 94.7 6.S 88.¢ 7.C 6.7
Other 9.7 5.4 7.€ 4.3 26.4
Headquarter® (29.0 nm* (27.9 nmk* 4.3
Total income from operations $ 205.¢ 6.2% $ 188.2 6.1% 9.4%
* Not meaningful
Q) Segment income from operations includes tigenemt’s direct operating income and allocationsHeadquarters’ costs, allocations

for logistics services, certain inventory adjustiseand volume rebates and cooperative advertisorg fendor partners.
(2) Includes certain Headquartefighction costs that are not allocated to the sed¢s

Income from operations was $205.9 million for theee months ended June 30, 2015, an increaserof #illion , or 9.4% ,
compared to $188.2 million for the three monthseshdune 30, 2014 . This increase was driven byehigét sales and gross profit, as
discussed above. Total operating margin percerntegeased 10 basis points to 6.2% for the threetihsoended June 30, 2015, from 6.fio¥o
the three months ended June 30, 2014 . Operatinginm@aercentage was positively impacted by thedase in gross profit margin.

Corporate segment income from operations was $180li6n for the three months ended June 30, 2045 increase of $10.8
million , or 9.1% , compared to $119.7 million the three months ended June 30, 2014 . This inereas driven by higher net sales and
gross profit. Corporate segment operating margingrgage increased 20 basis points to 7.4% fothttee months ended June 30, 201f%m
7.2% for the three months ended June 30, 2014 .

Public segment income from operations was $94.liomifor the three months ended June 30, 2015neease of $5.9 million , or
6.7% , compared to $88.8 million for the three mherended June 30, 2014 . This increase was drivéigher net sales and gross profit.
Public segment operating margin percentage deatddsbasis points to 6.9 % for the three monthedrddine 30, 2015 , from 7.0% for the
three months ended June 30, 2014 .

Interest expense, n

At June 30, 2015, our outstanding long-term detaiéd $3,169.6 million compared to $ 3,094.5 willat June 30, 2014 . Net
interest expense for the three months ended Jur2026 was $37.8 million , a decrease of $10.7ioniltompared to $48.5 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2014 . This decreaspnmaarily due to lower effective interest rateso June 30, 2015 compared to June 30,
2014 as a result of redemptions and refinancinigiies completed during 2014 and the first quaae2015.

Net loss on extinguishments of I-term debt

During the three months ended June 30, 2015 , @wenbalebt extinguishments compared to the samegari2014 when we
recorded a net loss on extinguishment of long-téetst of $2.6 million .

In June 2014, we entered into the Revolving Loamw five-year $1,250.0 million senior secured abssed revolving credit
facility. The Revolving Loan replaced our previgasolving loan credit facility that was to matune dune 24, 2016. In connection with the
termination of the previous facility, we recordetbss on extinguishment of long-term debt of $0ilion, representing a write-off of a
portion of unamortized deferred financing costs.
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In May 2014, we redeemed $42.5 million aggregaitecgral amount of senior subordinated notes. Wendsd a loss on
extinguishment of long-term debt of $2.2 millioepresenting the difference between the redemptice pnd the net carrying amount of the
purchased debt, adjusted for a portion of the umaread deferred financing costs.

Income tax expen:

Income tax expense was $63.9 million for the thmeaiths ended June 30, 2015 , compared to $50.mitr the same period of
the prior year. The effective income tax rate, esped by calculating the income tax expense arcarmiage of income before income taxes,
was 37.1% for the three months ended June 30, 2€dfpared to 36.9% for the same period of ther géar and differed in both periods
from the U.S. federal statutory rate primarily daestate and local income taxes.

Net income

Net income was $108.2 million for the three morghded June 30, 2015 , compared to $86.6 milliotHferthree months ended
June 30, 2014 . Significant factors and eventsingube net changes between the periods are detadove.

Nor-GAAP net income

Non-GAAP net income was $139.0 million for the #hreonths ended June 30, 2015, an increase of $#lfidn , or 20.0% ,
compared to $115.9 million for the three monthseshdune 30, 2014 .

We have included a reconciliation of Non-GAAP metdme for the three months ended June 30, 2012@hd below. Non-GAAP
net income excludes, among other things, chardetedeto the amortization of acquisition-relatethingibles, non-cash equity-based
compensation, acquisition and integration costd,gains and losses from the early extinguishmedebf. Non-GAAP net income is
considered a non-GAAP financial measure. Generallygn-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measfia company's performance,
financial position, or cash flows that either exitds or includes amounts that are not normally dexduor excluded in the most directly
comparable measure calculated and presented indarae with GAAP. Non-GAAP measures used by the @y may differ from similar
measures used by other companies, even when stavitas are used to identify such measures. Weueeli@at Non-GAAP net income
provides helpful information with respect to oureogting performance and cash flows including oulitglto meet our future debt service,
capital expenditures and working capital requirets.en

Three Months Ended June 30,

(in millions) 2015 2014

Net income $ 108.2 $ 86.€
Amortization of intangibles? 40.2 40.2
Non-cash equity-based compensation 7.5 4.3
Net loss on extinguishments of long-term debt — 2.€
Interest expense adjustment related to extinguisksraf long-term dels? — (0.5
Acquisition and integration costs 1.4 —
Other adjustment® 1.C 0.5
Aggregate adjustment for income taXes (19.9) (7.9

Non-GAAP net income $ 139.C $ 115.¢

(1) Includes amortization expense for acquisitiel®ted intangible assets, primarily customer i@hships and trade nam

(2) Reflects adjustments to interest expensetiegdtom debt extinguishments. Represents thedifice between interest expense
previously recognized under the effective interasthod and actual interest paid.

(3) Primarily includes expenses related to the conatibd of our headquarters and sales locations mér@hicagc

(4) Based on a normalized effective tax rate of 39
Adjusted EBITD/

Adjusted EBITDA was $268.0 million for the three mlos ended June 30, 2015, an increase of $20li®@milor 8.4%, compared t
$247.1 million for the three months ended June2B4 . As a percentage of net sales, Adjusted EBIWas 8.1% for the three months
ended June 30, 2015 compared to 8.0% for the thoeghs ended June 30, 2014 .
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We have included reconciliations of EBITDA and Astied EBITDA for the three months ended June 30520 2014 in the tables
below. EBITDA is defined as consolidated net incdmeéore interest expense, income tax expense, dapios and amortization. Adjusted
EBITDA, which is a measure defined in our creditesgnents, means EBITDA adjusted for certain itethElware described in the table
below. Both EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are considémon-GAAP financial measures. Generally, a norABAinancial measure is a
numerical measure of a company's performance, dinhposition or cash flows that either excludesnofudes amounts that are not normally
included or excluded in the most directly compagahkasure calculated and presented in accordatit&A&AP. Non-GAAP measures used
by the Company may differ from similar measuresiuseother companies, even when similar terms see to identify such measures.

We believe that EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA provitelpful information with respect to our operatingriormance and cash
flows including our ability to meet our future ded@trvice, capital expenditures and working capéglirements. Adjusted EBITDA is also
primary measure used in certain key covenants afiditions contained in the credit agreement gowerthe Company’s Term Loan,
including the excess cash flow payment provisiba,restricted payment covenant and the net leveedipe These covenants and definitions
are material components of the Term Loan as theysed in determining the interest rate applicedotee Term Loan, the Company’s ability
to make certain investments, incur additional dabt| make restricted payments, such as dividerdislzare repurchases, as well as whether
the Company is required to make additional pringipapayments on the Term Loan beyond the quarsemgrtization payments. See Note 4
to the accompanying unaudited interim consolidéiteghcial statements included elsewhere in thisrefor further details regarding the
Term Loan.

Three Months Ended June 30,

Percentage of Percentage of

(in millions) 2015 Net Sales 2014 Net Sales
Net income $ 108.C $ 86.€
Depreciation and amortization 52.€ 52.C
Income tax expense 63.€ 50.€
Interest expense, net 37.¢ 48.5
EBITDA 262.5 7.% 237.5 7.7%
Adjustments:

Non-cash equity-based compensation 7.5 .3

Net loss on extinguishments of long-term debt — 2.€

Income from equity investments (4.0 0.7

Acquisition and integration costs 1.4 —

Other adjustment® 0.6 2.€

Total adjustments 5.5 9.4
Adjusted EBITDA $ 268.( 8.1% $ 247.1 8.C%

(1) Other adjustments primarily include unusuah-ecurring litigation matters, certain historicalengtion costs, and expenses relate
the consolidation of our headquarters and saleditots north of Chicago.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

The following table presents our results of opersj in dollars and as a percentage of net salethd six months ended June 30,
2015 and 2014 :

Six Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014

Dollars in Percentage of Dollars in Percentage of

Millions Net Sales Millions Net Sales
Net sales $ 6,069.: 100.(% $ 5,758.: 100.(%
Cost of sales 5,078.. 83.7 4,836.. 84.C
Gross profit 991.( 16.5 922.1 16.C
Selling and administrative expenses 566.1 9.3 534.¢ 9.3
Advertising expense 67.4 1.1 63.2 1.1
Income from operations 357.t 5.¢ 324.( 5.€
Interest expense, net (82.6) (1.9 (98.6) (1.7)
Net loss on extinguishments of long-term debt (24.39) (0.9 (8.0 (0.2
Other income, net 8.t 0.1 0.€ —
Income before income taxes 259.1 4.2 218.( 3.€
Income tax expense (96.2) (1.6) (80.5) (1.9
Net income $ 162.¢ 27% $ 137.t 2.4%

Net sales

The following table presents our net sales by segnire dollars and as a percentage of total nessahd the year-over-year dollar
and percentage change in net sales for the sixim@mded June 30, 2015 and 2014 :

Six Months Ended June 30,

2015 2014

Percentage Percentage

of Total of Total Dollar Percent
(dollars in millions) Net Sales Net Sales Net Sales Net Sales Change Change
Corporate $ 3,335. 55.% $ 3,161.¢ 54.% $ 173t 5.E%
Public 2,380.: 39.2 2,241.% 38.¢€ 138.¢ 6.2
Other 353.¢ 5.8 355.( 6.2 (1.2) (0.4)
Total net sales $ 6,069.: 100.% $ 5,758.: 100.% $  310.¢ 5.4%

The following table presents our net sales by eustachannel for our Corporate and Public segmenddtee year-over-year dollar
and percentage change in net sales for the sixhm@mtded June 30, 2015 and 2014 .

Six Months Ended June 30,

Dollar Percent

(dollars in millions) 2015 2014 Change Change
Corporate:

Medium / Large $ 2,805.¢ $ 2,670.. $ 135.7 5.1%

Small Business 529.¢ 491.¢ 37.¢ 7.7

Total Corporate $ 3,335.0 % 3,161.¢ $ 173.t 5.5%
Public:

Government $ 673.¢ $ 567.. $ 106.: 18.7%

Education 889.1 848.¢ 41.1 4.8

Healthcare 816.¢ 825.¢ (8.9 (1.2

Total Public $ 2,380.0 $ 2,241 $ 138.¢ 6.2%
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Total net sales for the six months ended June @5 thcreased $310.9 million , or 5.4% , to $6,@64illion , compared to $5,758.3
million for the six months ended June 30, 2014 eréhwere 127 selling days for both the six montitded June 30, 2015 and 201@ustome
priorities shifted more towards integrated solusiomhich drove higher growth in solutions sales pared to transactional product sales.
Strong sales performance in solutions-focused prtsduas driven by netcomm, software and serversanger-related products. The growth
in transactional products was led by notebooks/feat®vices, which was partially offset by a declimelesktop computers.

Corporate segment net sales for the six monthscehalee 30, 2015 increased $173.5 million , or 5,8%mpared to the six months
ended June 30, 2014 , driven by sales growth in bastomer channels. Within our Corporate segnmattsales to medium/large customers
increased $135.7 million , or 5.1% , between pexied by growth in netcomm products and serverssaner-related products. Strong sales
performance in notebooks/mobile devices was pgriidfset by a decline in desktop computers. Né&séo small business customers
increased by $37.8 million , or 7.7% , betweengusj driven by growth in netcomm products, entsgpstorage and notebooks/mobile
devices, which was patrtially offset by a declinel@sktop computers.

Public segment net sales for the six months ended 30, 2015 increased $138.6 million , or 6.2%tween periods, due to strong
sales performance in government and growth in gduggartially offset by a decline in healthcaket sales to government customers
increased $106.3 million , or 18.7% , between miidriven by growth in sales to both federal aatedocal government customers. Sales to
federal customers increased year-over-year by éadibits compared to the sales declines in the ggar period when federal government
budget allocations were impacted by residual negaifects of sequestration, the partial shutdoivh@ federal government and federal
government budget uncertainty in 2013. The incréaset sales to the federal government was legrbwth in sales of desktop computers,
notebook/mobile devices and netcomm products asowgnued to benefit from strategic changes madeetter align with new federal
government purchasing programs implemented last yeeontinued focus on public safety drove the@ase in net sales to state/local
government customers, which was led by netcommuyatsdand notebooks/mobile devices, partially offsetleclines in desktop computers.
Net sales to education customers incre$41.1 million , or 4.8% , between periods, driversbrong sales performance in K-12. Growth in
sales to K-12 customers was slower during the ffia¢ft of 2015 compared to the prior year’s sigrificgrowth rate, led by higher sales of
notebooks/mobile devices which was partially offsgtdeclines in sales of netcomm products as satisticts held off making those
purchases until eRate funding commitment lettenevrehand. Net sales to healthcare customers alseie$8.8 million , or 1.1% , between
periods driven by a decline in desktop computeagtigdly offset by a growth in netcomm productssame of our larger customers shifted
priorities to reducing costs due to industry coitstlon.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased $68.9 million , or 7.5% $891.0 million for the six months ended June 332, compared t$922.1 millior
for the six months ended June 30, 2014 . As a ptage of total net sales, gross profit increaseda0s points to 16.3% for the six months
ended June 30, 2015, up from 16.0% for the sixthmeanded June 30, 2014 . Net service contrachteyencluding items such as thipdity
services, warranties and SaaS, contributed a pesitipact of 15 basis points to gross profit maggrour cost paid to the vendor or third-
party service provider is recorded as a reductiamet sales, resulting in net sales being equile@ross profit on the transaction. The
absence of inventory adjustments recorded duriaditst half of 2015 also contributed a positivepamt of 15 basis points to gross profit
margin during the second half of 2015.

The gross profit margin may fluctuate based onowerifactors, including vendor incentive and invepfarice protection programs,
cooperative advertising funds classified as a rédnof cost of sales, product mix, net servicettat revenue, commission revenue, pricing
strategies, market conditions and other factors.

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased $8illidn , or 5.8% , to $566.1 million for the simonths ended June 30, 2015,
compared to $534.8 million for the six months endede 30, 2014 . Sales payroll costs increasedt$iflion, or 7.6% between years,
primarily driven by increased sales compensatiomfhigher growth in solutions-related compensagiaial to specialists and technical
experts and overall growth in sales and grosstpiafaddition, certain coworker costs increase@ $8illion, or 7.0%, during the six months
ended June 30, 20®mpared to the prior year period due to highetscosnsistent with increased coworker count. Tooalorker count wa
7,278 , up 127 from 7,151 at June 30, 2014 . Tatalorker count was 7,211 at December 31, 2014 -¢éa@h equity-based compensation
expense increased $4.6 million, or 60.2%, durirgsilx months ended June 30, 2@binpared to the prior year period primarily duanoua
equity awards granted under our 2013 Long-Termritige Plan in 2015. As a percentage of total nktssaelling and administrative
expenses remained consistent at 9.3% in the sixhmm@mded June 30, 2015 and 2014 .
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Advertising expens

Advertising expense increased $4.1 million , 086.50 $67.4 million for the six months ended JB6g2015 , compared to $63.3
million for the prior year period. As a percentaxf@otal net sales, advertising expense remainedistent at 1.1% for the six months ended
June 30, 2015 and 2014 . The dollar increase imréiding expense was primarily due to an increashgital advertising and a continued
focus on promoting our reputation as a leadingdititsons provider.

Income from operation

The following table presents income from operatiopsegment, in dollars and as a percentage afates, and the year-over-year
percentage change in income from operations fosithenonths ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 :

Six Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014
Operating Operating Percent Change
Dollars in Margin Dollars in Margin in Income (Loss)
Millions Percentage Millions Percentage from Operations
Segments®
Corporate $ 240.7 7.2% $ 220.7 7.C% 9.C%
Public 154.: 6.5 142.¢ 6.4 8.C
Other 19.€ 5.€ 14.2 4.C 39.¢
Headquarter® (57.9 nm* (53.79) nmk* 6.8
Total income from operations $ 357.t 5% $ 324.( 5.6% 10.2%
* Not meaningful
Q) Segment income from operations includes tigenemt’s direct operating income and allocationsHeadquarters’ costs, allocations

for logistics services, certain inventory adjustiseand volume rebates and cooperative advertisorg ¥endors.
(2) Includes certain Headquartefishction costs that are not allocated to the sed¢s

Income from operations was $357.5 million for theraonths ended June 30, 2015, an increase 05$8®lion , or 10.3% ,
compared to $324.0 million for the six months endede 30, 2014 This increase was driven by higher net salesgaoss profit, as discuss
above. Total operating margin percentage increa8dshsis points to 5.9% for the six months ended B0, 2015 , from 5.6% for the six
months ended June 30, 2014 . Operating margin pege was positively impacted by the increase asgprofit margin.

Corporate segment income from operations was $240lidn for the six months ended June 30, 2015 inerease of $20.0 million ,
or 9.0% , compared to $220.7 million for the sixmits ended June 30, 2014 . This increase was doiyéigher net sales and gross profit.
Corporate segment operating margin percentageasec=20 basis points to 7.2% for the six monthe@ddne 30, 2015 , from 7.0% for the
six months ended June 30, 2014 .

Public segment income from operations was $154liBomfor the six months ended June 30, 2015 naneiase of $11.5 million , or
8.0% , compared to $142.8 million for the six manémded June 30, 2014 . This increase was drivénigher net sales and gross profit.
Public segment operating margin percentage incdeB8éasis points to 6.5% for the six months enlilee 30, 2015 , from 6.4% for the six
months ended June 30, 2014 .

Interest expense, n

At June 30, 2015, our outstanding long-term detaiéd $3,169.6 million compared to $ 3,094.5 willat June 30, 2014 . Net
interest expense for the six months ended Jun2@® was $82.6 million , a decrease of $16.0 nmltompared to $98.6 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2014 . This decrease waarnyirdue to lower effective interest rates aswife) 30, 2015 compared to June 30, 2014
as a result of redemptions and refinancing actisiiompleted during 2014 and 2015.

Net loss on extinguishments of I-term debt

During the six months ended June 30, 2015 , werdecba net loss on extinguishment of long-term dé$24.3 millioncompared t
$8.0 million for the same period in 2014.
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In March 2015, we redeemed all of the remaining3$8nillion aggregate principal amount of the 2019 Senior Nésrecorded
loss on extinguishment of debt of $24.3 millionnegenting the difference between the redemptiarefnd the net carrying amount of the
purchased debt, adjusted for the remaining unamsattileferred financing costs and premium.

In June 2014, we entered into the Revolving Loamew five-year $1,250.0 million senior secured &bssed revolving credit
facility. The Revolving Loan replaced our previgesolving loan credit facility that was to matune dune 24, 2016. In connection with the
termination of the previous facility, we recordebtbss on extinguishment of long-term debt of $0illion, representing a write-off of a
portion of unamortized deferred financing costs.

In May 2014, we redeemed $42.5 million aggregaitecgral amount of senior subordinated notes. Wendsd a loss on
extinguishment of long-term debt of $2.2 millioepresenting the difference between the redemptice pnd the net carrying amount of the
purchased debt, adjusted for a portion of the umaread deferred financing costs.

In March 2014, we repurchased $25.0 million aggeegéancipal amount of senior notes. We recordémss on extinguishment of
long-term debt of $2.7 million, representing thB#atence between the repurchase price and theanstimg amount of the repurchased debit,
adjusted for a portion of the unamortized defefneaincing costs.

In January and February 2014, we redeemed $50li@mélggregate principal amount of senior suborigidanotes. We recorded a
loss on extinguishment of lortgrm debt of $2.7 million, representing the diffece between the redemption price and the net cargmoun
of the repurchased debt, adjusted for a portidh@iunamortized deferred financing costs.

Income tax expen:

Income tax expense was $96.2 million for the sinthe ended June 30, 2015 , compared to $80.5 miltiothe same period of the
prior year. The effective income tax rate, exprddsecalculating the income tax expense as a pergerof income before income taxes, was
37.1% for the six months ended June 30, 2015 , aoadpto 36.9% for the same period of the prior yeak differed in both periods from the
U.S. federal statutory rate primarily due to statd local income taxes.

Net income

Net income was $162.9 million for the six monthslesh June 30, 2015 , compared to $137.5 millioriHersix months ended
June 30, 2014 . Significant factors and eventsingube net changes between the periods are detadove.

Nor-GAAP net income

Non-GAAP net income was $236.6 million for the siwnths ended June 30, 2015 , an increase of 3¥i6mior 20.1%, compare:
to $197.0 million for the six months ended June2214 .

We have included a reconciliation of Non-GAAP metdme for the six months ended June 30, 2015 abd B8low. NOnGAAP net
income excludes, among other things, charges tetatthe amortization of acquisition-related intidahgs, non-cash equity-based
compensation, acquisition and integration costd,gains and losses from the early extinguishmenebf. Non-GAAP net income is
considered a non-GAAP financial measure. Generallygn-GAAP financial measure is a numerical meastia company's performance,
financial position, or cash flows that either exida or includes amounts that are not normally dheduor excluded in the most directly
comparable measure calculated and presented indacwe with GAAP. Non-GAAP measures used by the @@y may differ from similar
measures used by other companies, even when staritas are used to identify such measures. Weueeliet Non-GAAP net income
provides helpful information with respect to oureogting performance and cash flows including oulitatbo meet our future debt service,
capital expenditures and working capital requirets.en
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Six Months Ended June 30,

(in millions) 2015 2014

Net income $ 162.¢ $ 137.t
Amortization of intangibles? 80.t 80.€
Non-cash equity-based compensation 12.2 7.€
Net loss on extinguishments of long-term debt 24.% 8.C
Interest expense adjustment related to extinguisksraf long-term dels? — 1.1
Acquisition and integration costs 1.7 —
Other adjustment$ 1.€ 0.€
Aggregate adjustment for income taXés (46.€) (36.5)

Non-GAAP net income $ 236.6 $ 197.(

(1) Includes amortization expense for acquisitielated intangible assets, primarily customer i@fships and trade nam

(2) Reflects adjustments to interest expensetiegdtom debt extinguishments. Represents thedifice between interest expense
previously recognized under the effective interasthod and actual interest paid.

(3) Primarily includes expenses related to the conatibd of our headquarters and sales locations mér@hicagc

(4) Based on a normalized effective tax rate of 39

Adjusted EBITD/

Adjusted EBITDA was $478.8 million for the six mbstended June 30, 2015, an increase of $38.@millor 8.4% , compared to
$440.8 million for the six months ended June 30,20As a percentage of net sales, Adjusted EBITE2A 7.9% for the six months ended
June 30, 2015 compared to 7.7% for the six monide@ June 30, 2014 .

We have included reconciliations of EBITDA and Astied EBITDA for the six months ended June 30, 20032014 in the tables
below. EBITDA is defined as consolidated net incdmeéore interest expense, income tax expense, dapios and amortization. Adjusted
EBITDA, which is a measure defined in our creditesgments, means EBITDA adjusted for certain iternElware described in the table
below. Both EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are considémon-GAAP financial measures. Generally, a norABAinancial measure is a
numerical measure of a company's performance, dinhposition or cash flows that either excludesnofudes amounts that are not normally
included or excluded in the most directly compagahkasure calculated and presented in accordatit&A&AP. Non-GAAP measures used
by the Company may differ from similar measuresiuseother companies, even when similar terms see to identify such measures.

We believe that EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA provitelpful information with respect to our operatingriormance and cash
flows including our ability to meet our future ded@trvice, capital expenditures and working capéglirements. Adjusted EBITDA is also
primary measure used in certain key covenants afiditions contained in the credit agreement gowerthe Company’s Term Loan,
including the excess cash flow payment provisiba,restricted payment covenant and the net leveedpe These covenants and definitions
are material components of the Term Loan as theysed in determining the interest rate applicedtee Term Loan, the Company’s ability
to make certain investments, incur additional dabt| make restricted payments, such as dividerdislzare repurchases, as well as whether
the Company is required to make additional pringiwapayments on the Term Loan beyond the quarsemgrtization payments. See Note 4
to the accompanying unaudited interim consolidéiteghcial statements included elsewhere in thisrefor further details regarding the
Term Loan.
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Six Months Ended June 30,

Percentage of Percentage of

(in millions) 2015 Net Sales 2014 Net Sales
Net income $ 162.¢ $ 137.t
Depreciation and amortization 105.1 104.(
Income tax expense 96.2 80.t
Interest expense, net 82.¢ 98.¢
EBITDA 446.¢ 7.4% 420.¢ 7.2%
Adjustments:

Non-cash equity-based compensation 12.2 7.€

Net loss on extinguishments of long-term debt 24.% 8.C

Income from equity investments (8.5 (0.9

Acquisition and integration costs 1.7 —

Other adjustment$ 2.2 5.C

Total adjustments 32.(C 20.2
Adjusted EBITDA $ 478.¢ 7.9% $ 440.¢ 7.7%

(1) Other adjustments primarily include unusuah-ecurring litigation matters, certain historicalengtion costs, and expenses relate
the consolidation of our headquarters and saleditots north of Chicago.

Seasonality

While we have not historically experienced sigrifit seasonality throughout the year, sales in aup@ate segment, which
primarily serves private sector business custonaeestypically higher in the fourth quarter tharother quarters due to customers spending
their remaining technology budget dollars at the efithe year. Additionally, sales in our Publigsent have historically been higher in the
third quarter than in other quarters primarily do¢he buying patterns of the federal governmedteducation customers.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

We have financed our operations and capital exparedi with internally generated cash from operatidfe also have $888.5
million of availability for borrowings under our s®r secured asset-based revolving credit faciityr liquidity and borrowing plans are
established to align with our financial and stratggdanning processes and ensure that we haveettesgary funding to meet our operating
commitments, which primarily include the purchas@éwentory, payroll, and general expenses. We ke into consideration our overall
capital allocation strategy which includes investirfer future growth, dividend payments, acquisiiand share repurchases. We believe
we have adequate sources of liquidity and fundiraglable at least for the next year, however, tlagsea number of factors that may
negatively impact our available sources of fundge @mount of cash generated from operations witldpendent upon factors such as the
successful execution of our business plan and geaeonomic conditions.

During the second quarter of 2015, we repurchasedhlion shares of our common stock for $91.7limil under the previously
announced $500 million share repurchase programP&e I, ltem 2, Unregistered Sales of EquityuBiies and Use of Proceeds for more
information on our share repurchase program.

On August 1, 2015 , the Company completed the aitoqui of Kelway TopCo Limited ("Kelway") by purchimg the remaining 65%
of its outstanding common stock. In total the Comyppaid $431.0 million , before transaction feed arpenses, of which $372.3 milliaras
settled in cash and $58.7 million was settled byirgy certain of the sellers 1.6 million share€BW common stock. The total purchase
price includes the November 2014 cash investmeatdoire a 35% non-controlling interest in Kelwasich was accounted for using the
equity method. As a result of the completion of dlequisition, the Company will also consolidaterappmately $80 million of Kelway debt.
The shares of CDW common stock issued to the sedier subject to a three-year lock up restrictitomfAugust 1, 2015.

On August 3, 2015, the Company announced thatagsdof Directors has declared a quarterly casidelid of $0.0675 per
common share to be paid on September 10, 2015 sbakholders of record as of the close of busin@sAugust 25, 2015 . Future dividends
will be subject to Board approval.
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Cash Flows
Cash flows from operating, investing and financangvities were as follows:

Six Months Ended June 30,

(in millions) 2015 2014
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 99.1 % 175.¢
Investing activities (23.9 (41.9
Net change in accounts payable-inventory fiam 41.7 55.C
Other cash flows from financing activities (124.%) (149.9)
Financing activities (83.]) (94.7)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casiatmnts (1.9 0.2
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equisalent $ 8.9 $ 39.t

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for thensonths ended June 30, 2015 decreased $76.@mdbmpared to the same
period of the prior year. Net income adjusted Far impact of non-cash items such as depreciatidraemortization, equity-based
compensation expense, deferred income taxes, dnolsseon extinguishments of long-term debt wass®2mnillion for the six-months ended
June 30, 2015 compared to $216.2 million for tlxensonths ended June 30, 2014. The increase of $dilli@n reflected stronger operating
results and lower interest expense in the firsnsixths of 2015 compared to the prior year pefidet.changes in assets and liabilities
decreased cash by $157.8 million in the first sonths of 2015 compared to a decrease of $40.3omilli the first six months of 2014,
resulting in a change of $117.5 million betweenqus. During the six months ended June 30, 2085h outflows from accounts receivable
increased $82.0 millionompared to the same period of the prior year duket increase in net sales and the lower accoeogsvable balanc
at December 31, 2014 driven by early payments ftertain customers. In addition, during the six rherénded June 30, 2015 , changes in
merchandise inventory decreased cash by $31.3mikar-over-year primarily due to the lower ingtbalance as of December 31, 2014
as a result of the timing of inventory receipts aadier than expected inventory shipments at titeaf 2014 due to accelerated customer roll-
outs.

In order to manage our working capital and opegatiash needs, we monitor our cash conversion cglefened as days of sales
outstanding in accounts receivable plus days gblgup inventory minus days of purchases outstagdtinaccounts payable, based on a
rolling three-month average.

The following table presents the components ofaash conversion cycle:

June 30,
(in days) 2015 2014
Days of sales outstanding (DS®) 41 40
Days of supply in inventory (DIGY 13 14
Days of purchases outstanding (DFD) (35) (35)
Cash conversion cycle 19 19
(1) Represents the rolling thremanth average of the balance of trade account$vedile, net at the end of the period, divided bgrage

daily net sales for the same three-month periogo Atcorporates components of other miscellanesesivables.

(2) Represents the rolling three-month average@balance of inventory at the end of the periotidd by average daily cost of sales
for the same three-month period.

3) Represents the rolling three-month averageetombined balance of accounts payable-tradéydirg cash overdrafts, and
accounts payable-inventory financing at the enthefperiod divided by average daily cost of satestie same three-month period.
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The cash conversion cycle remained at 19 daysdibr bune 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014. The incrad38® was primarily driven by an
increase in net sales and receivables for thirtlyg@rvices such as software assurance and wasaiitiese services have an unfavorable
impact on DSO as the receivable is recognized emétance sheet on a gross basis while the cordsppsales amount in the statement of
operations is recorded on a net basis. These serlive a favorable impact on DPO as the payabdedgnized on the balance sheet without
a corresponding cost of sales in the statemenpefadions because the cost paid to the vendoirdrplarty service provider is recorded as a
reduction to net sales. However, the impact to RPQune 30, 2015 was less than one day. The deareB4O was primarily due to a lower
inventory balance at June 30, 2015 as compareaht® 30, 2014 as a result of the timing of inventageipts and shipments to customers
during the period.

Investing Activitie:

Net cash used in investing activities decreaseds®idlion in the six months ended June 30, 201 gared to the same period of
the prior year. The decrease was primarily dudégoayment of an accrued charitable contributioindithe first quarter of 2014 that did not
occur in 2015. In connection with a 2007 businesalunation, we agreed with a significant sellingugholder to establish the MPK
Coworker Incentive Plan Il (the “MPK Plan”) andritake charitable contributions in amounts equahéortet income tax benefits derived
from payouts to participants under the MPK Plart ieny related employer payroll tax costs). Immection with the completion of our IPO
in July 2013, we accrued $20.9 million relatedhis firrangement in other current liabilities. Thability was fully settled in cash during the
first quarter of 2014. There is no remaining atyivinder the MPK plan.

Capital expenditures were $22.9 million and $21illion for the six months ended June 30, 2015 abit42, respectively, primarily
for improvements to our information technology sys$ during both periods.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities decreased@billlion in the six months ended June 30, 201/ gared to the same period of
the prior year. The decrease was primarily drivethie net impact of our debt transactions whiclulted in cash outflows of $7.1 millicemd
$130.2 million during the six months ended June2Bd,5 and 2014 , respectively. During the six memhded June 30, 2015 , we completed
the issuance of $525.0 million of 2023 Senior Npwdsich partially offset the cash used to reducetotal long-term debt. See Note 4 to the
accompanying unaudited interim consolidated finalngtiatements included elsewhere in this reporafdescription of the debt transactions
impacting each period. This decrease was pariidiet by share repurchases during the six momteceJune 30, 2015 which resulted in an
increase in cash used for financing activities@f.¢ million and by the changes in accounts payaiventory financing which resulted in a
decrease in cash provided for financing activitie$13.8 million . See Part Il, Item 2, Unregistb®ales of Equity Securities and Use of
Proceeds for more information on our share repweipaogram. The decrease in cash provided by atxpaygable-inventory financing was
the result of a higher accounts payable-inventmgricing balance at December 31, 2014 due to strqmgrchasing activity from certain
vendors during December 2014 to support the overaléase in net sales during that month, whichevpaid during the first quarter of 2015.

Long-Term Debt and Financing Arrangements

As of June 30, 2015, we had total indebtedne$8 & billion , of which $1.5 billion was securedigbtedness. At June 30, 201ke
were in compliance with the covenants under ouiouarcredit agreements and indentures. The amd@b®V's restricted payment capacity
under the Senior Secured Term Loan Facility wag & illion at June 30, 2015 .

Note 7 to the consolidated financial statementsainad in the December 31, 2014 financial statemeriudes additional details
regarding our debt. See Note 4 to the accompanyiagdited interim consolidated financial statemémtkided elsewhere in this report for
further details regarding each of the 2015 transastdescribed below.

During the six months ended June 30, 2015 , tHeviihg events occurred with respect to our dehtcitre:

* On March 3, 2015, we completed the issuancé&a6$ million principal amount of 5.0% Senior Notese 2023 which will
mature on September 1, 2023.

* On March 3, 2015, we redeemed the remaining $5@8@lion aggregate principal amount of the 8.5&ni®r Notes due 2019,
plus accrued and unpaid interest through the datedemption, April 2, 2015.
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I nventory Financing Agreements

We have entered into agreements with certain filmhitermediaries to facilitate the purchase ofeintory from various suppliers
under certain terms and conditions. These amouetslassified separately as accounts payable-iovefinancing on the consolidated
balance sheets. We do not incur any interest expassociated with these agreements as balancpaidiehen they are due. See Note 3 to
the accompanying unaudited consolidated finantaééments included elsewhere in this report fathfer details.

Contractual Obligations

Other than as discussed above in “Long-Term DethtFamancing Arrangements,” there have been no aatdranges to our
contractual obligations from those reported in Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddwem31, 2014.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements thatdraa@ reasonably likely to have a material curogruture effect on our
financial condition, changes in financial conditioevenues or expenses, results of operationsditgucapital expenditures or capital
resources.

Commitments and Contingencies

We are party to various legal proceedings thaearnighe ordinary course of our business, whickuihe commercial, intellectual
property, employment, tort and other litigation teeg. We are also subject to audit by federalestatl local authorities, by various partners,
group purchasing organizations and customers, dingdugovernment agencies, relating to purchasesaled under various contracts. In
addition, we are subject to indemnification claiamgler various contracts. From time to time, certdiour customers file voluntary petitions
for reorganization or liquidation under the U.Snkauptcy laws. In such cases, certain pre-petitiapments received by us could be
considered preference items and subject to retutimet bankruptcy administrator.

As of June 30, 2015 , we do not believe that tieeeereasonable possibility that any material baseding the amounts already
recognized for these proceedings and mattersyiftaas been incurred. However, the ultimate re&wiatof these proceedings and matters are
inherently unpredictable. As such, our financiatdition and results of operations could be advgra#fected in any particular period by the
unfavorable resolution of one or more of these @edings or matters.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our critical accounting policies have not changeunfthose reported in Item 7 “Management’s Disaussind Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” in our AnnBajport on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembeRB14 .

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The information set forth in Note 2 to the accompag unaudited consolidated financial statementtuted in Part I, Item 1 of this
Form 10-Q is incorporated herein by reference.

Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forwardoking statements within the meaning of the felseaurities laws. All statements other than statets
of historical fact included in this report are f@am-looking statements. These statements relateatyses and other information, which are
based on forecasts of future results and estinodt@mounts not yet determinable. These statemésug@ate to our future prospects,
developments and business strategies. We claimprttiection of The Private Securities Litigation Baf Act of 1995 for all forward-looking
statements in this report.

These forward-looking statements are identifiedH®yuse of terms and phrases such as “anticip&ieljeve,” “could,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “progct,” “will” and similar terms and phrases, inclodireferences to assumptions. However,
these words are not the exclusive means of idémgjfgyuch statements. Although we believe that ¢tamg intentions and expectations
reflected in or suggested by such forward-lookitagesnents are reasonable, we cannot assure yowehaill achieve those plans, intentions
or expectations. All forward-looking statements subject to risks and uncertainties that may cacsigal results to differ materially from

those that we expected.

” ” o ” w ”ou
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Important factors that could cause actual resaltiffer materially from our expectations, or camtry statements, are disclosed
under the section entitled “Risk Factors” includedur Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year eh@&cember 31, 2014 and Part Il,
Item 1A. Risk Factors of this report. All writtenéioral forward-looking statements attributableiso or persons acting on our behalf, are
expressly qualified in their entirety by the cantioy statements contained in the section entitRidK' Factors” included in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 20itMetsewhere in this report as well as other caatip statements that are made from
time to time in our other SEC filings and publicwmunications. You should evaluate all forw#odking statements made in this report in
context of these risks and uncertainties.

We caution you that the important factors referdredgeove may not contain all of the factors thatiemgortant to you. In addition, v
cannot assure you that we will realize the resaidevelopments we expect or anticipate or, evenbftantially realized, that they will result
in the consequences or affect us or our operatiotie way we expect. The forward-looking stateraén¢luded in this report are made only
as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligatigublicly update or revise any forward-lookingtetaent as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise, except as otherwiseired by law.
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ltem 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Alout Market Risk

See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firei@ondition and Results of Operations” and “Qitative and Qualitative
Disclosures of Market Risks” in the Company’s AnhRaport on Form 10-K for the year ended Decemiie814 . As of June 30, 2015,
there had been no material change in this infonati

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company's management, with the participatiah@Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chiefdricial Officer, has
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disodocontrols and procedures (as such term isetefinRule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as astk(ttie “Exchange Act”)as of the end of the period covered by this refgased on suc
evaluation, the Company's management, includin@tmapany's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finah©fficer, has concluded that, as
of the end of such period, the Company's disclosardrols and procedures were effective in recardimocessing, summarizing and
reporting, on a timely basis, information requitede disclosed by the Company in the reportsittiges or submits under the Exchange #
and that information is accumulated and communitaighe Company's management, including the Cogip&hief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allomdly discussions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in the Company’s internarabaover financial reporting during the quarteded June 30, 2015 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenglly affect, the Company’s internal control o¥i@ancial reporting.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

See Note 6 “Commitments and Contingencies” to toempanying unaudited interim consolidated finanstiatements.
Item 1A. Risk Factors

See “Risk Factors” in the Company's Annual ReporEForm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 20F4ofAlune 30, 2015there
had been no material change, except as noted bidhis information.

Fluctuationsin foreign currency have an effect on our reported results of operations.

Our exposure to fluctuations in foreign currenagsaresults primarily from the translation exposassociated with the preparation
of our consolidated financial statements. While camsolidated financial statements are reportéd $ dollars, the financial statements of
our subsidiaries outside the U.S. are preparedjubimlocal currency as the functional currency @madslated into U.S. dollars. As a result,
fluctuations in the exchange rate of the U.S. dabliéative to the local currencies of our interoatl subsidiaries could cause fluctuations in
our reported results of operations. We also hakgda currency exposure to the extent sales anchpses are not denominated in a
subsidiary’s functional currency, which could hareadverse effect on our business, results of tpesaor cash flows.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities andse of Proceeds

There were no unregistered sales of equity seesiritiiring the period covered by the report. Thieviohg table provides informatic
relating to the Company’s purchases of its commooksfor each of the three months in the quartdedniune 30, 2015 :
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Period

April 1, 2015 through April 30, 2015 —
May 1, 2015 through May 31, 2015 2.5
June 1, 2015 through June 30, 2015 —

Total

(1)

(2)

Total Number of Shares Maximum Dollar Value of
Total Number of Purchased as Part of a Shares that May Yet be
Shares Purchased (in Average Price Paid Publicly Announced Program Purchased Under the Program
millions) per Share @ (in millions) @(in millions)

$ 500.(
36.6¢ 25§ 408.:
$ 408.:

@ B B B
|

36.6¢ 2.5

On May 22, 2015 , the Company completed aipuiffering of 11.5 million shares of its commonek by certain selling
stockholders, which included 1.5 million sharegism} the selling stockholders to the underwritarspant to the grant of
an option that was exercised in full. The Compaidyribt receive any proceeds from the sale of tebsees. On May 17,
2015, the Company entered into a share repura@gasement with certain selling stockholders atfthwith Madison
Dearborn Partners, LLC and Providence Equity Pestnd.C pursuant to which it repurchased 2.0 millghares of its
common stock from such selling stockholders. Thers repurchase was effected in a private, nonruniteen transaction
for $36.60per share, which was equal to the per share pakelyy the underwriters to the selling stockholdersonnectior
with the public offering completed on May 22, 2014l other share repurchases during the periocevmeade through the
open market.

On November 6, 2014 , the Company announcgthie Board of Directors approved a $500 millibare repurchase
program, which became effective immediately, undeich the Company may repurchase shares of its aonmstock in the
open market or through privately negotiated tratisas, depending on share price, market conditeortsother factors. The
share repurchase program does not obligate the &wonip repurchase any dollar amount or number afesh and
repurchases may be commenced or suspended fronwctitinee without prior notice.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

None.
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Iltem 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Description

10.1 Share Repurchase Agreement, dated as of May 13, B@Jand among the Company and the Sponsor S&8timgkholders,
previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 with CDW Corpomatis Form & filed on May 21, 2015 and incorporated hereirrdfgrence

10.2 Letter Agreement, dated as of May 18, 2015, byandng the Company and the Sponsor Selling Stockhglgreviously
filed as Exhibit 10.2 with CDW Corporation's ForaK&iled on May 21, 2015 and incorporated hereirréference.

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer PursuantRule 15d-14(a) under the Securities ExchangeoAt934.

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer PursuantRule 15d-14(a) under the Securities ExchangeoAt934.

32.1*%* Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. 1350.

32.2*%* Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. 1350.

101.INS*  XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docute

101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen

101.LAB*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenin

* Filed herewitl

** These items are furnished and not fi
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the registrant has duly causisdréiport to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

CDW CORPORATION

Date: August 7, 2015 By:  /s/ Ann E. Ziegler
Ann E. Ziegler
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Duly authorized officer, principal financial offic and
principal accounting officer)
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) UNDER
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Thomas E. Richards, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Foi®rQ of CDW Corporation (the "registrant

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleadir
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly presentin all
material respects the financial condition, resoftsperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheeporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procsdareaused such disclosure controls and procedoifge designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrinégion relating to the registrant, including ithsolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report
is being prepared,;

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeragsurance regarding the reliability of financégorting and
the preparation of financial statements for extepuaposes in accordance with generally accepteduading
principles;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registralidsglosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in thegtegnt's internal control over financial reportih@t occurred during
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (tlgésteant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case ofanual report) that h
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, the registrant's internal contreko financial
reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer anlalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditonsl he audit committee of registrant's board oédtiors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adverssfgct the registrant's ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that innadvmanagement or other employees who have a signiifiole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

/sl Thomas E. Richards

Thomas E. Richards

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
CDW Corporation

August 7, 2015




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) UNDER
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Ann E. Ziegler, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Foil®HQLof CDW Corporation (the "registrant

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortaémstate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleadir
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer anaké responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18ayHhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)1&4r the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoige designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiairmédion relating to the registrant, including itsmsolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period inigh this report
is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerasurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and
the preparation of financial statements for extiepnaposes in accordance with generally accepteduatting
principles;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registralidsdlosure controls and procedures and presentsi report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the discisantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in thegtegnt's internal control over financial reportthgt occurred during
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (tlgésteant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case ohanual report) that h
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evélly affect, the registrant's internal contreko financial
reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer antllve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over

financial reporting, to the registrant's auditansl éhe audit committee of registrant's board aéctiors (or persons

performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant's ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedumanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

/sl Ann E. Ziegler

Ann E. Ziegler

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
CDW Corporation

August 7, 2015




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350 OF CHAPTER 63
OF TITLE 18 OF THE UNITED STATES CODE

I, Thomas E. Richards, the chief executive office€DW Corporation (“CDW?”), certify that (i) the Quterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the three months ended June 30, 2015 (the “10-fC0W fully complies with the requirements of Sectil3(a) or 15(d) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and (ii) the information cameal in the 10-Q fairly presents, in all materesgpects, the financial condition and results
of operations of CDW.

/sl Thomas E. Richards
Thomas E. Richards

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
CDW Corporation
August 7, 2015




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350 OF CHAPTER 63
OF TITLE 18 OF THE UNITED STATES CODE

I, Ann E. Ziegler, the chief financial officer ofB8V Corporation (“CDW?"), certify that (i) the Quartg Report on Form 10-Q for the
three months ended June 30, 2015 (the “10-Q") o\CDIly complies with the requirements of Sectid(d) or 15(d) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and (i) the information caméal in the 10-Q fairly presents, in all materegpects, the financial condition and results
of operations of CDW.

/sl Ann E. Ziegler

Ann E. Ziegler

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
CDW Corporation

August 7, 2015




